

LUND UNIVERSITY

Bone turnover markers and prediction of bone loss in elderly women

Lenora, Janaka

2009

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Lenora, J. (2009). *Bone turnover markers and prediction of bone loss in elderly women.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Orthopedics]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Bone turnover markers and prediction of bone loss in elderly women

Janaka Lenora Ph.D Thesis



LUNDS UNIVERSITET

Medicinska fakulteten

Clinical and Molecular Osteoporosis Research Unit, Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö University Hospital, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden

2009

Copyright: Janaka Lenora Language revised by Hugh Kidd

ISBN: 978-91-86253-75-2 ISSN: 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2009: 87 Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, 2009.

Dedicated to my parents

Contents

List of papers	5
Abbreviations	6
Introduction	7
Burden of osteoporosis	7
Pathogenesis of osteoporosis	7
Bone tissue: functions and microstructure	9
Bone remodelling	11
Bone turnover markers	12
Use of bone turnover markers	16
Pre-analytical variability of bone turnover markers	23
Future markers of bone turnover	24
Methods of bone mass measurement	25
Aims of the study	28
Materials and methods	29
Summary of papers	34
General discussion	40
Conclusions	42
References	46
Papers	61

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals (I–V):

- Lenora J, Norrgren K, Thorsson O, Wollmer P, Obrant KJ, Ivaska KK. Bone turnover markers are correlated with total skeletal uptake of 99mTc-methylene diphosphonate (99mTc-MDP). BMC Med Phys. 2009 Mar 30;9:3.
- II. Lenora J, Ivaska KK, Obrant KJ, Gerdhem P. Prediction of bone loss using biochemical markers of bone turnover. Osteoporos Int. 2007 Sep;18(9):1297-1305.
- III. Lenora J, Gerdhem P, Obrant KJ, Ivaska KK. Bone turnover markers are correlated with quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus: 5-year longitudinal data. Osteoporos Int. 2009 Jul;20(7):1225-1232
- IV. Ivaska KK, Lenora J, Gerdhem P, Åkesson K, Väänänen HK, Obrant KJ. Serial assessment of serum bone metabolism markers identifies women with the highest rate of bone loss and osteoporosis risk. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Jul;93(7):2622-32.
- V. Lenora J, Åkesson K, Gerdhem P. Effect of precision on longitudinal follow-up of bone mineral density measurements in elderly women and men. Submitted.

Abbreviations

- aBMD areal bone mineral density
- BMC bone mineral content
- BTMs bone turnover markers
- BUA broadband ultrasound attenuation
- CI confidence interval

CV %- coefficient of variation

- DXA dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
- LSC least significant change
- OPRA osteoporosis prospective risk assessment
- QUS quantitative ultrasound
- S-bone ALP serum bone-specific alkaline phosphatase
- S-OC serum osteocalcin
- S-OC[1-49] serum intact osteocalcin
- S-cOC serum carboxylated osteocalcin
- S-Total OC serum total osteocalcin
- SD standard deviation
- SoS speed of sound
- S-TRACP5b serum tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b
- TB total body
- TH total hip
- TSU total skeletal uptake
- 99mTc-MDP technetium 99m-labelled methylene diphosphanate
- U-DPD/crea urinary deoxypyridinoline to urinary creatinine ratio
- U-LongOC/crea urinary long osteocalcin to urinary creatinine ratio
- U-MidOC/crea urinary mid-osteocalcin to urinary creatinine ratio
- U-TotalOC/crea urinary total osteocalcin to urinary creatinine ratio

Introduction

Burden of osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a disease characterised by low bone mass and micro-architectural deterioration of bone tissue, leading to enhanced bone fragility and thereby an increased fracture risk (1,2). It is mainly an age-related phenomenon, commonly occurring in postmenopausal women and in elderly men (3). It can also occur earlier in life secondary to other disease conditions or medications. Osteoporosis is a major healthcare problem, clinically manifested as fractures resulting from minor trauma acting on a skeleton that has reduced strength. The lifetime risk of hip, wrist or clinically diagnosed vertebral fractures in Caucasian women is about 35–40% and it is 13% for men (2,4,5). Risk of fragility fracture begins to rise rapidly after the age of 75 years (6). The remaining lifetime risk for a Caucasian woman at the age of 80 years is 70% (7,8). Osteoporotic fractures are a major burden to the global costs of healthcare (9,10). In Europe, it is estimated that 179,000 men and 611,000 women will suffer a hip fracture each year, and the related costs will probably reach 25 billion euros (11).

The most common sites of fracture are the thoracic and lumbar spine, proximal femur, distal radius, pelvis and humerus (2). Having sustained an osteoporotic fracture increases the risk of subsequent fractures (12). The fracture with the largest impact on quality of life is the hip fracture (13). It is often followed by morbidity and is associated with increased mortality. Most of the osteoporotic hip fractures result from simple falls. Up to 20% of hip fracture patients die between six and twelve months after the fracture event (14) and more than 50% of the survivors require long-term care (15). Only 20–50% of patients who were independent prior to fracture return to pre-fracture activity levels twelve months after hip fracture (15).

It has been estimated that nearly 15–20% of postmenopausal women sustain vertebral fractures due to osteoporosis, and these fractures often cause significant pain (4,16). About 20% of women with vertebral fractures sustain other fractures within one year (12). The incidence of distal forearm fractures begins to increase from 45–60 years and is followed by a plateau (17), and the incidence does not increase with aging – perhaps because of the altered neuromuscular reflexes with aging (18).

Pathogenesis of osteoporosis

The pathogenesis of osteoporosis is complex and includes both genetic and environmental factors. Osteoporosis results from imbalance in the normal mechanisms that control bone remodelling (19). In healthy adults, bone mass is maintained by continuous turnover of bone in the bone remodelling process (20). In this cycle, resorptive activity of osteoclasts is tightly coupled to the formative activity of osteoblasts, ensuring that bone mass remains constant, but after menopause the rate of bone resorption is higher than that of bone formation. The rate of bone loss can be 2–5% per year during the first few years after menopause (21). The pathogenic causes of osteoporosis can be divided into three main categories. These are (i) failure to achieve optimal peak bone mass during growth, (ii) excessive bone resorption after reaching peak bone mass, and (iii) impaired bone formation responses during remodelling (19,22).

It is not only the decrease in bone mass that influences bone strength; trabecular microstructure is also an important factor (23-25). Osteoporotic bone has lost trabecular connectivity, in addition to trabecular bone mass, leading to trabecular thinning (Figure 1) (22). The accumulation of micro-damage with age causes an increase in risk of fracture throughout life, especially in women (26). The pathogenesis of bone loss in osteoporosis involves several risk factors that include gender, age, genetics, hormonal changes and environmental influences.



Figure 1. Trabecular bone structure in the lower spine of a young adult compared to that of an elderly osteoporotic adult. Reprinted by courtesy of Professor Ralph Muller, Switzerland.

Bone tissue: functions and microstructure

Bone tissue, together with cartilage, makes up the skeletal system in vertebrates. There are three major functions of the skeleton: (i) to provide mechanical support and muscle attachment for locomotion, (ii) to protect vital organs (with the bone marrow providing space for haematopoiesis in the medullary cavities), and (iii) to provide a metabolic function that is essential for the regulation of calcium and phosphate levels in the body (27). In addition, bone absorbs potentially hazardous trace elements such as toxins and heavy metals, thus minimising the harmful effects to other tissues of the body (28).

The long bones have epiphyses: a mid-shaft, which is called the diaphysis, and a development zone, the metaphysis. The growth plate lies between the metaphysis and the epiphysis. There are two types of bone tissue, cortical bone (compact bone) and trabecular bone. Although cellular and matrix components are similar in cortical and trabecular bones, they differ in structure and function. The external shell of the bone and also the diaphysis of long bones consist of cortical bone that is composed of lamellae, dense layers of calcified tissue arranged around Haversian canal forming osteons. Cortical bone contributes to about 85% of the whole skeleton, and it is mainly responsible for the mechanical strength and stiffness of bone (29,30).

Trabecular bone (cancellous or spongy bone), which makes up about 15% of the whole skeleton, is located in the epiphysis of long bones, in vertebral bodies and in the inner parts of the small bones. It is a rigid meshwork of thin, mineralised trabeculae that are less dense than cortical bone (Figure 1). Trabecular bone has both a mechanical and a metabolic role, acting as a reservoir for calcium and phosphorus (29). Despite their differences in structure, distribution and function, trabecular and cortical bone are produced by the same cell types and have the same overall matrix composition.

Bone matrix

Bone matrix consists of abundantly mineralised extracellular tissue and functionally distinct cell populations, osteoblasts, osteoclasts and osteocytes. Chemically, inorganic minerals – predominantly calcium phosphate – contribute to two-thirds of the composition of bone tissue and organic bone materials account for the remaining one third. More than 90% of the organic bone matrix consists of triple-helical type I collagen fibrils. The network of collagen fibres provides strength and also binds other proteins. The intrinsic properties of the collagen matrix and bone mineral also contribute to fracture resistance (together with the amount, architecture and rate of turnover of bone) (31). Collagen and most non-collagen matrix proteins are secreted by osteoblasts (32). After secretion of collagen fibrils, these undergo a series of post-translational

modifications and are arranged in triple helices (31). Osteocalcin is the most abundant non-collagen protein.

Calcium is the mineral component of bone tissue. Together with phosphorus, calcium forms hydroxy-appetite crystals (Ca₁₀(PO₄)₆ (OH₂)); these lie along the collagen fibrils embedded in an amorphous ground substance that, together with the bone cells, makes up bone. The ground substance is mainly composed of glycoproteins and proteoglycans (27). Bone acts as a calcium store for the body and is the major tissue involved in regulation of plasma calcium levels (33). Ninety-nine per cent of the body's calcium is found in the skeleton and teeth, with the remaining 1% being found in extracellular fluid, plasma and cell membranes (34). At birth, the human body contains 25 grams of calcium, and in an adult the body contains 1,000–1,300 g (35). High calcium intake during childhood results in high bone density (not above normal), while low calcium intake (< 500 mg per day) results in low bone density (36).

Bone cells

There are 3 types of cells in bone: osteoblasts, osteocytes and osteoclasts. These have different roles in keeping the bone metabolically active.

Osteoblasts

Osteoblasts are derived from the mesenchymal stem cells found in bone marrow and in the periosteum. Osteoblasts produce most of the matrix proteins in bone, and a mature osteoblast on the surface of bone secretes type I collagen and other bone matrix proteins during bone formation. Osteoblasts work in clusters along the bone surface, with around 100–400 cells per bone-forming site (37). Towards the end of the secreting period, the osteoblasts become either flat lining cells or osteocytes (27). When the bone is neither at a stage of formation nor resorption, there is a flattened, single layer of osteoblasts and these can differentiate into osteogenic precursors, and may be involved in the propagation of the activation signal that initiates bone resorption and bone remodelling (38).

Osteocytes

Osteocytes are the most abundant cells in mature bone, and they have reached the terminal differentiation stage in the osteoblast lineage (32). Osteocytes are important for structural and metabolic support. During the transformation from motile osteoblast to embedded osteocyte, the cell produces an extracellular matrix that is three times its own volume. The rounded osteoblast becomes a more dendritic-shaped osteocyte. Osteocytes connect to neighbouring osteocytes and to other cells on the surface of bone by thin and long processes containing microfilaments. These processes form a network

of canaliculi that permeate the entire bone matrix (39). The main function of this cell-tocell contact is considered to be mechanosensory: transducing stress signals (stretching, bending) to mechanical loading. Osteocytes have a long lifespan, which can even be several decades (32).

Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts are the main bone-resorbing cells, and they represent the smallest proportion of bone cells. Osteoclasts are of haematopoietic origin. These multinucleated cells, containing 4–20 nuclei, are derived from bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells (40). They are usually found in contact with calcified bone surface and within lacunae. Osteoclasts have several specific features such as the capacity to resorb calcified bone and cartilage (40). Usually, 1–2 osteoclasts are found in one resorption site, but there can even be up to 5. They have a ruffled border, which is a deep sealed fold of the plasma membrane containing hundreds of motile microvilli that are directed at the resorbing surface. The osteoclast cytoplasm is "foamy", with many vacuoles containing enzymes such as tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b (S-TRACP5b) and cathepsin K (27). Osteoclastogenesis needs the action of two cytokines: receptor for activator of nuclear factor- κ B ligand (RANKL) and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (41,42). These proteins are secreted, for example, by marrow stromal cells and osteoblasts (41).

Bone remodelling

Bone is a dynamically and metabolically active organ that is continuously subjected to resorption and formation by the coordinated action of osteoclasts and osteoblasts on the surface of trabecular bone and in the Haversian canals (43). These two processes are collectively called bone turnover or bone remodelling. Due to the higher surface area of trabecular bone compared to cortical bone, most of the bone turnover takes place in trabecular bone. Osteoclasts degrade existing bone matrix and osteoblasts synthesise new bone matrix. About 10% of the skeleton is remodelled each year (44), allowing the it to adjust its strength to mechanical stress and to repair any damage (20,39). Bone remodelling is also necessary for maintenance of the metabolic function of the skeleton and for plasma calcium homeostasis (45).

The remodelling occurs in focal and discrete remodelling units on the surface of bone throughout the skeleton. The initial activation begins with interaction of osteoclast precursor cells and osteoblast precursor cells. This is followed by differentiation, migration and fusion of the large multinucleate osteoclasts. The mechanism behind this activation is still not known. These active osteoclasts attach to the surface of bone and secrete hydrogen ions and lysosomal enzymes (46). The resorptive phase stops after a certain volume of bone has been removed, which takes approximately 10 days. After the resorption phase, osteoblast precursors are recruited to the site (46). This occurs possibly

through signalling from the proteins released during the bone resorption in a paracrine fashion. They may also enhance cell proliferation. The formation phase of bone remodelling takes 3–4 months. The initial, rapid phase is followed by slow, passive mineralization; this continues for another 4–5 months until all the new bone is mineralized (47).

Many factors affect bone turnover, which can increase either the bone formation or the resorption, or both. Stimulation or inhibition of one of these two processes leads to uncoupling of bone turnover. During growth, bone size and strength increase. During the first three decades of life, bone formation predominates over bone resorption, until the maximum bone mass has been achieved. This maximum bone mass is referred to in the literature as "peak bone mass" (48,49). After reaching the peak bone mass, there is a state of equilibrium where the rate of bone formation equals the rate of bone resorption. After the age of 40 years, the remodelling process is not in balance and bone resorption predominates over bone formation (50). The aging process includes endosteal resorption, periosteal apposition, trabecularization of cortical bone (Figure 1) and increase in cortical porosity (50). In women, this process is accelerated in the first few years after the menopause (50). This process will lead to more fragile bone, and subsequently increased risk of fracture.

Bone turnover markers

Bone turnover markers – or biochemical markers of bone turnover – are bone tissue proteins or their fragments, or enzymes released from bone cells during bone turnover. Proteins can be by-products of collagen formation or products of collagen degradation, or non-collagenous proteins such as osteocalcin and bone sialoprotein. Enzymes such as bone-specific alkaline phosphatase and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b can also be used as markers of bone turnover. Bone turnover markers can be detected in serum or urine. Ideally, they should reflect only the activity of osteoblasts or osteoclasts. The bone turnover markers that are mainly released during bone formation or resorption are known as bone formation or resorption markers, respectively (Table 1). Formation and resorption are usually tightly coupled in time and space; thus, any such marker reflects the overall rate of bone turnover. Certain bone turnover markers may reflect different stages of formation and resorption, but they cannot reflect disease-specific processes and cannot distinguish between the activities at cortical or trabecular bone.

Assessment of bone turnover using bone turnover markers has the advantages of relatively low cost and non-invasive sample collection compared to the evaluation of bone turnover rate by histomorphometry in bone biopsies from the iliac crest. Although bone biopsy may give direct evidence concerning the aetiology, pathogenesis and progress of metabolic bone diseases, it has the disadvantage of being invasive and of giving information on bone turnover only concerning that specific skeletal region.

	Tissue of origin	Specimen	Abbreviation
Bone formation mark	zers		
Alkaline phosphatase	liver, bone, placenta, intestine, germ cells	Serum	S-ALP
Bone-specific alkaline phosphatase	bone (osteoblasts), platelets	Serum	S-Bone ALP
Osteocalcin (intact, total, carboxylated)	bone (osteoblasts)	Serum	S-OC
Procollagen I C- terminal extension peptide	bone, soft tissue, skin	Serum	S-PICP
Procollagen I N- terminal extension peptide	bone, soft tissue, skin	Serum	S-PINP
Bone resorption marl	kers		
Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b	bone (osteoclasts)	Serum	S-TRACP5b
C-terminal cross-linking telopeptide of type I collagen	bone, soft tissue, skin	Serum/ Urine	S-CTX-I, U-CTX-I
N-terminal cross- linking telopeptide of type I collagen	bone, soft tissue, skin	Serum/ Urine	S-NTX-I, U-NTX-I
C-terminal cross-linking telopeptide of type I collagen, generated by metalloproteinases	bone, skin	Serum	S-ICTP or S-CTX-MMP
Deoxypyridinoline	bone, dentine	Urine	U-DPD
Pyridinoline	bone, cartilage, tendon, blood vessels	Urine	U-PYD
Osteocalcin	bone	Urine	U-OC

Table 1. Currently available, common bone turnover markers

Bone formation markers

Total alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (Bone ALP)

Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) is an enzyme located on the cell surface. Three different tissue-specific genes encode the intestinal, placental and germ-line enzymes, and the tissue-unspecific gene is expressed in numerous tissues, including bone and the liver. Tissue-unspecific ALPs are produced by the same gene but there are tissue-specific differences in their post-translational modification of the carbohydrate chains (51). The most common sources of elevated serum ALP levels are liver and bone. In bone, ALP is present on the cell surface of the osteoblasts, and it is probably cleaved off from the membrane and released into circulation. In healthy individuals, about half of the serum alkaline phosphatase is derived from bone. Thus, measurement of S-ALP can be used as a marker of bone turnover, but it lacks sensitivity and specificity, especially under conditions in which there is only a small increase in bone turnover. Measurement of the bone-specific isoform S-Bone ALP has better sensitivity for detecting changes in bone turnover. However, the S-Bone ALP assays that are currently available still have a cross-reactivity with the liver isoenzyme of 15–20% (52).

Osteocalcin (OC)

Osteocalcin (or bone Gla protein) is the most abundant non-collagenous matrix protein in bone. It forms about 1% of the organic component of bone. It is a lowmolecular-weight protein consisting of 49 amino acids and is expressed by osteoblasts, osteocytes, odontoblasts and hypertrophic chondrocytes. Osteocalcin has a high affinity for Ca^{2+} in bone hydroxyapatite, due to the three y-carboxy glutamic acid residues at positions 17, 21 and 24 (53). Part of the newly synthesized osteocalcin is incorporated into new bone matrix and part of it enters the circulation, where it can be detected. Serum osteocalcin is considered to be a specific marker of osteoblast activity, and its serum levels thus reflect the rate of bone formation. Circulating osteocalcin consists of different immune-reactive forms. Approximately one third of serum osteocalcin is intact, one third consists of the mid-molecule fragment 1-43 and one third is smaller fragments (54). It is not clear whether these fragments are byproducts during the biosynthesis of OC, from proteolysis of osteocalcin in the circulation or whether they are released directly from bone during bone resorption. Different osteocalcin assays can detect different fragments of osteocalcin in serum. The presence of multiple isoforms of OC in serum and the differences between assays in detection of these isoforms limit the clinical usefulness of S-OC (55).

Osteocalcin may also be released from the bone matrix during bone resorption (56). Osteocalcin that enters the circulation is rapidly degraded (57). Breakdown fragments are cleared via the liver and the kidneys, and immune-reactive osteocalcin fragments can also be detected in the urine (58). Urinary osteocalcin (U-OC) appears to be more related to bone resorption than bone formation (59,60).

Procollagen type I pro-peptides

During the extracellular processing of newly-synthesized type I collagen, the amino-terminal and carboxy-terminal extension peptides are cleaved before fibril formation (61). These extension peptides guide the helical folding of the collagen molecule and the released N- and C-terminal pro-peptides of type I collagen (PINP and PICP, respectively) can be detected in the circulation. PICP and PINP are considered to be quantitative measures of the newly formed type I collagen. Type I collagen is also a component of several soft tissues; thus, there is a possible contribution from sources other than bone. However, the rate of collagen turnover in bone is faster than in other tissues, and therefore the changes in S-PINP and S-PICP are assumed to primarily reflect changes in collagen synthesis in bone (61,62).

Bone resorption markers

Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b (TRACP5b)

Acid phosphatases are catalytic enzymes that act on phosphoesters in an acidic environment. Six isoenzymes of acid phosphatase have been identified in humans. Type 5 is expressed by osteoclasts and by alveolar and monocyte-derived macrophages, and is resistant to tartrate inhibition. Two isoforms of TRACP5 can be found in the human circulation. TRACP5a is sialylated and originates from macrophages and dendritic cells, whereas TRACP5b lacks sialic acid and is derived from osteoclasts. The two isoforms also have different pH optima. The biological function of S-TRACP 5b in osteoclasts remains elusive. It is believed to destroy the endocytosed bone matrix degradation products during trans-cytosis through the osteoclast. TRACP-containing vesicles are added to the trans-cytotic vesicles transporting matrix degradation products, and TRACP is believed to assist matrix degradation in vesicles by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS) (63). TRACP has been reported to reflect the bone resorption rate, but more recent data have shown that it more accurately reflects the number of osteoclasts rather than their activity (64). Circulating TRACP5b levels are not affected by the renal function, and the effect of food intake is negligible (65). Furthermore, the level of TRACP5b is relatively stable in serum samples (66).

Collagen cross-links and cross-linked telopeptides

Collagen structure is stabilised by intra- and intermolecular cross-links. In bone, the predominant cross-links are pyridinoline (PYD) and deoxypyridinoline (DPD). Pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline cross-links are released during bone resorption when type I collagen is degraded. PYD is more predominant in collagen while DPD is the minor component, but since DPD is most abundant in bone and dentin, it is considered to be a more bone-specific cross-link (67). Cross-links are cleared by the kidney, and they can be measured in serum or urine either as free cross-links or when bound to short collagen peptides.

Cross-linked telopeptides of type I collagen include the cross-linked N-terminal telopeptides (NTX) and cross-linked C-terminal telopeptides (CTX and ICTP). Fragments are generated by different collagenolytic pathways. NTX and CTX are released by cathepsin K cleavage and ICTP is a larger fragment produced by matrix metalloproteinases (68). CTX exists in an isomerised beta-CTX form and a non-isomerised alpha-CTX form. Isomerisation is associated with the aging of bone, and the assay for beta-CTX is therefore considered to measure the degradation of relatively old bone (69). Currently, beta-CTX-I is perhaps the most commonly used cross-link assay.

Use of bone turnover markers

Bone turnover markers assessed in serum or urine can be used in three main clinical areas, although individual patient management guidelines are still to come. The clinical areas are: (i) prediction of bone loss and the risk of developing osteoporosis, (ii) identification of individuals with a high risk of fracture, and (iii) monitoring of anabolic or anti-resorptive therapy.

Prediction of bone loss

Individuals with a high rate of bone loss are at risk of developing osteoporosis and fracture. High rate of bone loss is in itself a risk factor for fracture, independently of BMD (70). Accelerated bone turnover and subsequent bone loss cannot be assessed by DXA unless serial measurements are performed. Due to the imprecision of measurement and the relatively slow rate of change in bone density, it would take

years to detect a high turnover of bone with serial bone density measurements (71). The prediction of bone loss by measurement of bone turnover markers in single samples of serum or urine has been tested in many studies, and some of the studies are summarized in Table 2. In general, weak to modest correlations have been reported between bone turnover markers and bone loss at the lumbar spine and proximal femur. Women with high levels of bone turnover markers (72-74). Accordingly, women with a high rate of bone loss have higher levels of bone turnover markers than women with a low rate of bone loss (75-77).

Table 2. Correlation between biochemical markers at baseline and subsequent bone loss. A. Correlation with aBMD changes in Hip or femoral neck. B. Correlation with aBMD changes in the lumbar spine. Significant correlation coefficients (r) are marked in bold, ${}^{a}p$ <0.05, ${}^{b}p$ <0.01, ${}^{c}p$ <0.001 A.

Bone turnover	R value	Reference	Number of	Mean age in	Duration,
markers			participants	years (SD or	years
				range)	
Bone formation	n markers				
S-Bone ALP	0.14	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0
	0.02	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0
	-0.39 ^a	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0
	-0.38 ^a	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0
S-OC	-0.14	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0
(all forms)	-0.13	(73)	81women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0
	-0.35 ^a	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0
	-0.20	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0
S-PICP	-0.19 ^a	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0
	-0.30 ^b	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26 -86)	3.0
	-0.20	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0
Bone resorption	n markers	6			
S-TRACP5b	-0.03	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0
S-ICTP	0.05	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0
	-0.31 ^b	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0
U-NTX/ crea	-0.18	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0
	-0.52 ^b	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0
U-CTX-I/crea	-0.36 ^a	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0
U-NTX/crea	-0.20 ^a	(84)	143 women	65.6 (2.8)	4.0
U-DPD/crea	-0.16 ^a	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0
	-0.23	(73)	81 women	26-86	3.0
	-0.51 ^b	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0
U-Pyr/crea	-0.35 ^b	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0
	-0.44 ^b	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0

В.						
Bone turnover	R value	Reference	Number of	Mean age in	Duration,	
markers			participants	years (SD or	years	
				range)		
Bone formation	on marke	ers				
S-Bone ALP	0.20 ^c	(85)	603 Women	67.4 (6.8)	3.0	
	0.11	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0	
	-0.19 ^a	(86)	122 women	61.6 (0.6)	2.0	
	-0.47°	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
	-0.36 ^a	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0	
	-0.43 ^c	(87)	60 women	57.0 (0.3)	4.0	
	0.06	(80)	36 women	71.0 (4.0)	3.0	
S-OC (all	0.09 ^a	(85)	603 women	67.4 (6.8)	3.0	
forms)	-0.15	(86)	122 women	61.6 (0.6)	2.0	
,	-0.40 ^c	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
	-0.29 ^a	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0	
	-0.42 ^b	(87)	60 women	57.0 (0.3)	4.0	
S-PICP	0.04	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0	
	-0.24 ^a	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
	-0.13	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0	
S-PINP	-0.53 ^c	(87)	57 women	57.0 (0.3)	4.0	
Bone resorption	n markers	8		· · · · · ·	•	
S-TRACP5b	-0.20	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
S-ICTP	0.11	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0	
	-0.06	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
S-NTX				, <i>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </i>		
U-NTX/ crea	-0.42 ^b	(87)	60 women	57.0 (0.3)	4.0	
	-0.09	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0	
U-CTX-I/crea	-0.11 ^a	(85)	603 women	67.4 (6.8)	3.0	
	-0.25	(83)	59 women	46.8 (6.1)	3.0	
U-NTX/crea	-0.21ª	(84)	143 women	65.6 (2.8)	4.0	
U-DPD/crea	0.03	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0	
,	-0.20ª	(86)	122 women	61.6 (0.6)	2.0	
	-0.19	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	
	-0.35 ^b	(87)	57 women	57.0 (0.3)	4.0	
U-Pyr/crea	-0.18 ^a	(82)	188 women	59.2 (11.5)	3.0	
	-0.13	(86)	122 women	61.6 (0.6)	2.0	
	-0.10	(73)	81 women	57.1 (26-86)	3.0	

One study involving osteopenic elderly women showed that women in the high tertile of bone turnover markers (S-OC, S-Bone ALP, U-DPD/crea) were at a 4.3–6.4 times higher risk of developing osteoporosis in the lumbar spine after 3 years when compared to the women in the low tertile of bone turnover markers (78). In addition to bone loss at the lumbar spine and proximal femur, some studies have also reported an association between bone turnover markers and bone loss in the forearm (76,78,79) and calcaneus (77). The lack of association between levels of bone turnover markers and spinal bone loss in elderly women that has been observed in some studies (80) could be due to the difficulty in detecting spinal bone loss accurately in elderly women. An association between bone turnover markers and bone loss assessed by quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus has been reported, but the data are still rather limited (81).

Bone turnover markers and prediction of fracture

Osteoporosis is a silent disease. The end-stage of osteoporosis - fracture - is associated with reduced quality of life, shortened lifespan and large healthcare costs. Thus, the strategies of osteoporosis management are directed toward prevention of fracture. Prevention of fracture starts with early identification of fracture-prone individuals. Although a low BMD at the spine, proximal femur or forearm is associated with an increased risk of fracture (88), about half of such fractures occur in individuals who have a BMD above the level of the osteoporosis diagnostic threshold (6,89). Ideally, only those individuals who are at high risk of sustaining a fracture should receive anabolic or anti-resorptive treatment, and treatment should be targeted on the basis of risk assessment rather than the BMD measurement alone. Thus, improvement of fracture prediction is necessary. Increased levels of bone turnover markers have been found to be predictive of fractures independently of age, BMD and prior fracture (Table 3). Elevated levels of bone resorption markers such as S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-CTX-I, U-NTX-I and U-OC (90-98) have been shown to be associated with fracture risk; and of the bone formation markers tested, S-Bone ALP, S-OC, S-PICP and S-PINP (93,94,98-100), as well as 3-month change in S-OC (85), have been associated with fracture risk (Table 3).

Only a few studies have investigated the fracture predictability of bone turnover markers in men. Meier *et al.* showed that high baseline levels of S-ICTP, but not of S-CTX-I or S-PINP, were associated with fracture in elderly men during a 6-year follow-up (101). Luukinen *et al.* showed that baseline carboxylated osteocalcin and carboxylated to total osteocalcin ratio in serum were lower in men who had sustained a fragility fracture during a 5-year follow-up than in men who had not sustained a fracture (99). Szulc *et al.* reported that levels of S-OC, S-Bone ALP and S-CTX-I could be correlated to the rate of bone loss in the total body, the distal forearm or

Follow-up, Analys years	Analys	is months too	Number of individuals with fractures	Bone turnover markers statistically significant S Rone 41 D S OC and S	Bone turnover markers not statistically significant	Reference
1.4		highest quartue vs. all others	о+ (алу пастике)	S DORE ALLY, S-UU and S- CTX-I	none	(20)
5.0 (up to 7.6)		highest quartile vs. others	83 (any fracture)43 (non-vertebral fracture)16 (hip fractures)	U-NTX/crea with non-vertebral fractures	S-ALP, S-OC with vertebral, hip or non-vertebral fracture U-NTX-L/crea with hip fracture	(06)
3.0-6.5		highest quartile vs. all others	178 (any fracture) 49 (vertebral fracture)	S-TRACP5b, U-Long OC/crea, any fracture or vertebral fracture S-CTX-I, U-Mid OC/crea, vertebral fracture	S-Bone ALP, S-Total OC, S-CC[1-49], S-cOC, U-DPD/crea	(91)
5.0 1	1 4 4 W	ess than 1 SD below he mean compared o others; age and sex adjusted	84 (any fracture)	S-cOC S-cOC/S-Total OC ratio	S-Total OC	(66)
3.3	A M M P	Above the upper imit of premenopausal range 7s. others	115 (hip fractures) 293 (controls)	U-CTX.I/crea -morning sample U-DPD/crea- morning sample S-CTX-I -afternoon sample	S-CTX-I – morning sample	(92)
2.7	-	per 1 SD increase	55 (33 vertebral and 25 non- vertebral fractures)	S-Bone ALP U-CTX/crea	none	(63)
5.0		per 1 SD decrease, and adjusted to age and BMC	43 (any fractures)	S-PICP, S-ICTP	s-oc	(94)

kters Aereence NP, (95) NPD/crea		s ccea ccea ccea β-D	s (96) crea crea β-D β-D (35) X-1/crea,	s (96) creat (creat β-D β-D (35) (35) (35) (35) (35)
pone tumover marks not statistically significant S-OC, S-PICP, S-PINI U-NTX-I/crea, U-DPI		U-CTX-I/ccea levels U α-D-CTX-1/ca U β-D-CTX-1/ca U-CTX-I artios U-CTX-I α-L/β-	U-CTX-I/crea levels U-CTX-1/cre U β-D-CTX-1/cre U-CTX-1 α-L/cr U-CTX-1 α-L/β- Baseline level of S-OC, Baseline or 3-month el S-Bone ALP, U-CTX-	U-CTX-I/crea levels U-CTX-1/cre U α-D-CTX-1/cre Uβ-D-CTX-1/cre U-CTX-1 α-L/β- U-CTX-1 α-L/β- Baseline level of S-OC, Baseline or 3-month cl S-Bone ALP, U-CTX- a S-Bone ALP, S-OC, u-NTX/crea,
bone turnover markers statistically significant S-Bone ALP S-CTX-I U-CTX-I/crea		U-CTX-I/crea levels U α-L-CTX-I/crea U β-L-CTX-I/crea Total U-CTX-I/crea U-CTX-I α-L/β-L U-CTX-I α-L/β-L U-CTX-I α-L/β-L	U-CTX-I/area levels U-CTX-I/area U β-L-CTX-I/area Total U-CTX-I/area U-CTX-I α-L/area U-CTX-I α-L/β-L U-CTX-I α-L/β-L 3-month change in S-OC	U-CTX-I/crea levels U α-L-CTX-I/crea U β-L-CTX-I/crea Total U-CTX-I/crea U-CTX-I α-L/β-L U-CTX-I α-L/β-L U-CTX-I α-L/β-L J-month change in S-OC J-month change in S-OC
number of individuals with fractures 55 (21 vertebral and 37 non- vertebral fractures)		65 (16 vertebral and 55 non- vertebral fractures)	65 (16 vertebrai and 55 non- vertebrai fractures) 71 (vertebrai fractures)	65 (16 vertebral and 55 non- vertebral fractures) 71 (vertebral fractures) fractures)
Analysis highest quartile vs. others, adjusted for age, previous	physical activity	phractures and physical activity highest quartile vs. others, adjusted for age, prevalent fractures and physical activity	physical activity physical activity highest quartile vs. others; adjusted for age, prevalent fractures and physical activity highest quartile vs. lowest quartile vs.	physical activity highest quartile vs. others; adjusted for age, prevalent fractures and physical activity lighest quartile vs. lowest quartile per 1 SD increase
rouow-up, years 5.1		8.9	3.0	6.8 1.9
in years, in years, (SD or range) (50-89) (50-89)		64.0 (50–89)	64.0 (50–89) 67.4 (6.8)	64.0 (50–89) (50–89) (6.8) (6.8) (75–89)
435 women		408 women	408 women 603 women	408 women 603 women 401 women

the trochanter in men above the age of 50 years, but they were not predictive of fracture during 7.5 years of the study (102).

In general, the predictability of fracture from bone turnover markers is weak to modest (103), and is no better than the predictability of bone density measurement (104,105). Studies are sometimes inconsistent, and the same marker may not have the same predictability in different studies (Table 3). Different durations of follow-up, different age categories of individuals studied, different numbers of bone turnover markers used in each study and the variability of assays used may have contributed to this inconsistency.

Monitoring of anti-osteoporosis treatment

Monitoring of the efficacy of bone-active drugs is currently the most promising clinical application for bone turnover markers. When compared to imaging techniques such as DXA, the levels of bone turnover markers change much faster in response to therapeutic interventions. The changes in bone turnover markers also have a markedly wider range, compared with the imprecision of the assay, than changes in aBMD. Levels of bone turnover markers respond as early as 4-12 weeks after pharmacological treatment (106-114), while it may take years to detect a change in aBMD or to detect a reduction in fracture risk. Bone formation (S-Bone ALP and S-PINP) and resorption markers (S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, and U-NTX/crea) decrease by 30-70% after 4-12 weeks of treatment and remain low in osteoporotic women treated with bisphosphonate (108,109,111-113,115,116), hormone replacement therapy (109,117) or, more recently, denosumab, which is a monoclonal human antibody against receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL) (107,108). In general, the change in level of resorption markers occurs slightly earlier than the change in formation marker levels. Treatment with parathyroid hormone, which is an anabolic agent, causes an increase in bone formation markers (S-Bone ALP, S-PINP and S-PICP) within one month, and this increase is followed by an increase in bone resorption markers (S-CTX-I, U-NTX-I and U-DPD). The bone turnover markers remain elevated during one year of treatment (106,118), indicating their different mode of action compared to anti-resorptive agents such as bisphosphonates.

Early change in bone turnover markers following pharmaceutical therapy has been found to correlate with an increase in hip and lumbar spine BMD over 1–3 years in osteopenic and osteoporotic women (106-109,111,112,115,119). This has been used in the development of pharmaceutical agents: to identify the differences in therapeutic response to the same pharmaceutical agent in dose-finding studies (111,120-122) and in the comparison of different pharmaceutical agents

(108,109,112,114,119). Thus, bone turnover markers can be used to identify the optimum therapeutic agent and optimum dose for individual patients.

In addition, bone turnover markers have been used not only to predict the therapeutic effect of medication on BMD, but also to assess the possibility of predicting fracture risk following treatment. Short-term decrease in bone turnover markers CTX-I and NTX-I has been shown to be associated with reduced incidence of vertebral and non-vertebral fractures over 1–3 years in women treated with alendronate, risedronate, and zoledronic acid (121,123-126), and with raloxifen (127). Greater early changes in bone turnover markers following pharmaceutical treatment have been associated with greater decrease in fracture risk following alendronate (123) and raloxifene (127).

Pre-treatment levels of bone turnover markers may be useful for identification of patients who would benefit the most from the treatment. Patients with high bone turnover before the start of therapy are likely to respond to anti-resorptive agents better than patients with low bone turnover. This has been shown in studies conducted in patients treated for 1–3 years with bisphosphonates (126,128,129), calcitonin (130), hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (117,131,132) and parathyroid hormone (106). In these studies, larger gain in BMD (106,117,126,129,131,132), in BMC (130), or lower incidence of fragility fractures (128) was seen in the group with high bone turnover before treatment when compared to the group with low bone marker levels before treatment.

Pre-analytical variability of bone turnover markers

Pre-analytical variability is one of the limitations affecting the clinical interpretation of bone marker measurement. Levels of markers are affected by diurnal, menstrual and seasonal variations, as well as food intake and the level of physical activity. Uncontrollable factors include, for example, age, gender, menopausal status, recent fracture, bed rest, metabolic bone disease and renal function (133,134). BTMs are higher in infants and children than in adults, and reach their highest levels during puberty. After puberty BTMs remain low and rise again after menopause in women, remaining elevated throughout the rest of life (135). There is a slow rise in elderly men (134). Bone turnover marker levels are highest in the early morning and lowest in the late afternoon and evening. The largest diurnal variation has been reported for urinary collagen cross-links and cross-linked telopeptides (136,137). Serum levels of bone turnover markers are less affected, with the exception of S-CTX-I, which can vary about 60% between morning and night (138). Food intake reduces the levels of most of the bone turnover markers, especially S-CTX-I (139). The effect of food intake is most probably mediated through glucagon-like peptide 2, the synthesis of which is stimulated by food intake (140). Because of this, it is recommended that

morning fasting samples should be used for bone marker assessment. Bone turnover markers can also be influenced by a recently sustained fracture. Retrospective studies have shown that bone turnover marker levels remain elevated for up to 2 years after a fracture (94,141). Changes in the level of physical activity have been shown to affect the bone formation markers S-OC and S-PINP, but S-CTX-I levels are less affected (142). However, contradictory data exist in which bone formation markers were found to be lower in trained athletes than in sedentary controls (143), or unchanged (144). There may be a small seasonal variation in bone turnover markers, with an increase in levels of these markers during winter compared to levels measured in summer (145). However, the influence of seasonal variation is modest at the level of the individual (134) and some studies have shown absence of such an effect (146,147).

To minimize pre-analytical variability, it is advisable to collect morning fasting samples. The patient should be asked to refrain from physical exercise prior to sampling. History of recent fracture should also be taken into account when interpreting the results.

Future markers of bone turnover

Although bone turnover markers have shown clinically interesting associations, those that are currently available also have some limitations. They reflect quantitative changes but do not provide information on structural abnormalities of bone or on the remodelling rate of different bone compartments. Some have high variability or are not bone-specific. Recent progress in the identification of important pathways in bone physiology has led to the development of new potential biochemical markers. These include osteoclastic enzymes, regulators of bone cell activity, non-collagenous matrix proteins or their fragments, and markers of bone matrix properties.

Cathepsin K is an osteoclastic enzyme of the cysteine protease family; it is secreted by active osteoclasts and it is needed for the cleavage of both helical and telopeptide regions of type I collagen. Recently, an assay has been developed to assess serum cathepsin K (148). So far, only preliminary studies have been performed using human samples (149). Further studies are needed to identify the potential use of cathepsin K in the clinical context.

Osteoprotegerin (OPG) and receptor activator for nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL) are expressed by osteoblasts and are important regulators of bone turnover. Interaction of RANKL with receptor activator for nuclear factor kappa B (RANK) receptor on osteoclast precursor cells induces the differentiation and maturation of osteoclasts. OPG acts as a decoy receptor for RANKL, and prevents osteoclastogenesis by preventing the signals induced by RANKL-RANK interaction (150). OPG levels

increase with age; higher levels have been found in post-menopausal and elderly women, probably as a homeostatic response to limit the bone loss (151). Mezquita-Raya *et al.* found that OPG was independently associated with osteoporosis and prevalent vertebral fractures (152). Low levels of the soluble form of RANKL can be detected in the circulation, and immunoassays have been developed for its measurement (153). In one study, low levels of RANKL were shown to be predictive of fracture (154). However, further studies are required to confirm the possible clinical value of novel biochemical markers of bone remodelling.

Methods of bone mass measurement

The assessment of fracture risk relies to a great extent on the measurement of bone mass. There are many factors that contribute to bone strength. These include bone geometry, trabecular architecture, accumulation of microfractures, accumulation of cement lines, cortical porosity and microheterogeneity of mineralisation (155,156). Several methods are available for the purpose of bone mass measurement. Single-photon absorptiometry (SPA), dual-photon absorptiometry (DPA) and single-energy X-ray absorptiometry (SXA) are no longer used in clinical practice. Quantitative computed tomography (QCT) can be used to measure volumetric BMD (vBMD), but it has no clinical application. Peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) has a lower radiation dose than QCT, but it can only be used to measure peripheral parts such as the distal radius and the tibia. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), which is the golden standard for use in clinical practice, and QUS, which is mostly used in screening programmes and research applications, are discussed in detail below.

Diagnosis of osteoporosis

In the past, the clinical diagnosis of osteoporosis relied on the presence of a fragility fracture. Today, diagnosis of osteoporosis is mainly done by measuring bone density by DXA. The T-score is defined as the number of standard deviations that the bone density differs from the reference mean for young adults.

According to WHO guidelines, results of bone mineral density measurement are divided into 4 groups (2):

- 1. **Normal** aBMD (or BMC) above 1 standard deviation (SD) below the young adult reference mean value (T-score \geq -1.00).
- 2. **Osteopenia** aBMD (or BMC) between 1 and 2.5 SD below the young adult reference mean value (T score < -1.0 and > -2.5).

- 3. **Osteoporosis** aBMD (or BMC) 2.5 SD or more below the young adult reference mean value (T-score \leq -2.5).
- 4. Severe osteoporosis (established osteoporosis) aBMD (or BMC) 2.5 SD or more below the young adult reference mean value (T \leq -2.5) and the presence of one or more fragility fractures.

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA)

DXA technology, which has the advantage of high precision, accuracy, short scan times and low radiation dose, meets the requirements of a non-invasive method of diagnosis and follow-up of osteoporosis (2). DXA measures the bone mineral content (BMC, g) and areal bone mineral density (aBMD, g/cm^2). It involves transmission of two different X-ray energies through the patient, which are differentially attenuated by the soft and bone tissue. DXA is a safe investigation, because the radiation dose to the patient is less than the daily dose of radiation from natural background radiation (157). Two different techniques are used in DXA: the pencil beam and the fan beam techniques. In the pencil beam technique, the image of the scanned region is achieved by multiple scans over the region of interest while the fan beam technique requires only a few sweeps over the region (158-160). The fan beam technique shortens the scan time required to 10-30 seconds for the hip or spine, as compared to 5-10 min for the pencil beam technique. The radiation dose in the pencil beam technique is 0.3–1.9 mSv, but with the fan beam it can increase by at least tenfold: up to 5-30 mSv depending on the site being measured (158).

The regions most often measured with DXA are the proximal femur (femoral neck or total hip) and lumbar spine (from the first or second lumbar vertebra to the fourth lumbar vertebra, depending on the manufacturer), but DXA can also be used to measure other sites such as the radius, the calcaneus and the total body. From a total body scan, lean mass, fat mass, BMC and aBMD of the total body or a particular region such as the arms, legs, head or trunk can be obtained. The hip is the best site for predicting hip fracture whereas the spine is the best site for predicting hip fracture whereas the spine is the best standard deviation (SD) decrease in femoral neck BMD is associated with an increase in the relative risk of sustaining a femoral neck fracture of 2.6 times (104,105). Similarly, one SD decrease in spine BMD is associated with a 2.3-fold increase in the relative risk of vertebral fracture (104,105).

Quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus

Quantitative ultrasound (QUS) of the calcaneus has been developed as a non-ionizing technique to measure bone mass in peripheral skeletal regions. The QUS technique has some advantages over the DXA technique such as lower cost, lack of X-ray radiation and the possibility of using a portable QUS device in field studies or in screening processes (162). QUS measures bone with two variables: speed of sound (SoS) and broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA). In addition, a third variable called stiffness index, which is independent of mechanical stiffness of the bone, has been derived from SoS and BUA in Lunar Achilles® machines (162). QUS variables correlate to axial aBMD to approximately the same degree as to peripheral aBMD (162), and they have been shown to predict fractures independently of bone mineral density measured by DXA (163-166). In the QUS technique, bone strength is evaluated by analysing the alteration of an ultrasonic wave after penetration of an irregularly shaped non-homogeneous propagation medium, including both trabecular network and cortical shell (167,168). Thus, the ultrasonic impulse received may result from a combination of multiple waves, transmitted through different pathways in the bone, in the trabecular network as well as in the cortical shell of the bone, resulting in a complex signal. Ultrasonic wave propagation through bone depends on bone mass and on other material properties such as microarchitecture and tissue elasticity (169-171). The correlation between QUS and axial or site-matched DXA-based aBMD measurement was shown to range from moderate to strong in earlier studies (169), including the Malmö OPRA cohort study (172).

Scintigraphy

Technetium-99m (99mTc)-labelled diphosphonates are commonly used bone-seeking substances in scintigraphic procedures; they are used to detect lesions in conditions such as cancer metastasis, occult fractures and osteomyelitis, due to their high affinity to metabolically active sites in bone. Studies with 99mTc-labelled methylene diphosphonate (99mTc-MDP) suggest that skeletal uptake of MDP reflects a combination of skeletal blood flow and osteoblastic activity (173,174). In these procedures, the skeletal or extra-osseous accumulation of 99mTc-MDP is used to identify the lesions as "hot spots" (175,176). In earlier studies, the measurement of 24-hour whole body retention of 99mTc-MDP was used to assess the skeletal metabolism (177,178), before introduction of the regional quantification of ^{99m}Tc-MDP activity by D'Addabbo et al. (179) and Brenner et al. (180). These techniques have been found to be useful for estimation of skeletal turnover rate at the time of the measurement. The regional quantification after 5 hours has the advantage over 24-hour retention that it directly gives a measure of skeletal uptake, and a shorter time period is needed. Studies have shown that total skeletal uptake of 99mTc-MDP correlates with aBMD and bone turnover markers (178,181-183).

Aims of the study

In this thesis, the following specific questions were set for the study:

- Is bone turnover, as assessed by total skeletal uptake of Technetium 99-labelled methylene diphosphonate, correlated more to bone formation markers or to resorption markers?
- Can baseline levels of bone turnover markers predict changes in aBMD?
- Can serial measurement of bone turnover markers improve the ability of these markers to predict changes in aBMD?
- Can baseline levels of bone turnover markers predict changes in quantitative ultrasound variables?
- Does the precision error affect the assessment of repeated bone densitometry in elderly women and men?

Materials and methods Participants in paper I

For this study, we recruited 22 women from the registers of the orthopaedic clinic at Malmö University Hospital. The median age of the women was 65 years (range 52–80). The inclusion criteria were women who had sought medical advice or treatment for complaints such as non-fracture trauma, back pain, vertebral fractures or ankle fractures at least 6 months before the recruitment. By the time the study was started, they were free from the condition that had originally brought them to the clinic. Women who had ever been treated with bisphosphanates or women who had been treated with oestrogens or corticosteroids within the previous year were excluded. Patients with primary hyper-parathyroidism, hyper-thyroidism, osteomalacia, chronic malnutrition, any malignancy, hepatic cirrhosis or a joint prosthesis were also excluded.

Participants from the Malmö OPRA cohort, Papers II-V

The Malmö Osteoporosis Prospective Risk Assessment (OPRA) cohort consists of elderly women who were randomly recruited from the population registry of Malmö. For the baseline investigation, 1,604 women were invited by mail one week after their seventy-fifth birthday. Baseline recruitments took place between November 1995 and May 1999. Of the 1,604 women invited, 1,044 (65%) participated at baseline. Of the 560 women who did not participate, 13 had died shortly after the invitation, 139 could not come because of illness, 376 were not interested or could not attend for reasons other than illness, and 32 women could not be reached despite repeated letters and phone calls. Baseline DXA was performed on 995 individuals. The women were invited for prospective follow-up visits after 1, 3 and 5 years. At the 5-year follow-up, 691 had second aBMD measurements performed at at least one site, and 551 women had completed both baseline and 5-year QUS measurements.

In **Paper II**, 601 women who had attended both the baseline and the 5-year DXA measurements were included. These women had baseline serum and/or urine samples available and had not taken hormone replacement therapy or bisphosphonates during the study period.

In **Paper III**, 506 women who had attended both the baseline and the 5-year QUS measurements were included. These women had baseline serum and/or urine samples available and had not taken hormone replacement therapy or bisphosphonates during the study period.

In **Paper IV**, 573 women were included. They attended both the baseline and the 5-year DXA measurements, and had given serum and/or urine samples at baseline and at the

1-, 3- and 5-year follow-ups. The women included had not taken hormone replacement therapy or bisphosphonates during the study period.

In **Paper V**, 691 women were included. These women had a baseline and 5-year followup DXA measurements available. In addition, 211 men from the Malmö part of the MrOs study who attended DXA measurements at baseline and at the 5-year follow-up were included. The MrOs study is an international multi-centre study on risk factors for osteoporosis and fracture in elderly men. The men in the Malmö cohort of the MrOs study were recruited from the population registers of Malmö city.

Bone density measurements

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry

The total body, the total hip, the femoral neck and the lumbar spine aBMD measurements in the women were performed by using a Lunar DPX-L scanner (Lunar DPX-L; Lunar Corporation, Madison, USA) at baseline (**Papers I–V**) and after 5 years (**Papers II, III, IV and V**). Scan analysis at baseline was done with software versions 1.33 or 1.35, except for hip scans, which were analyzed with 4.7b. Follow-up scans at 5 years were done with software version 4.7b. Men were measured at the same regions of interest using a Lunar Prodigy scanner (Lunar Prodigy, Madison, USA), which uses the fan beam technique. Software version 2.05 was used for scan analysis at baseline and at five years.

Quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus

Ultrasound measurements were performed in elderly women at baseline and after five years with a Lunar Achilles® scanner (Lunar Corporation, Madison, USA) for the right calcaneus. (If there was a history of previous injury or fracture on the right side, the left calcaneus was used instead). The results were obtained as speed of sound (SoS), broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA) and the stiffness index **(Paper III)**.

Serum and urine samples

Serum and urine samples were collected for the analysis of markers of bone turnover at baseline (age 75 years, **Papers II, III and IV**), and follow-ups after 1, 3, and 5 years (**Paper IV**). Non-fasting blood samples were collected between 08.00 and 13.00, and serum was separated and stored within 2 hours. First morning void urine samples were also collected. Serum and urine samples were stored at -80°C. For **Paper I**, non-fasting serum and urine samples were collected at 09.00. The analyses for each bone metabolic marker were done at the same time in order to minimise inter-assay variability.

Measurement of bone turnover markers

Markers of bone formation

Bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (S-Bone ALP) was determined by using Metra BAP immunoassay (Quidel Corporation), with an intra- and inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) of 3.6% and 4.4%, respectively. Serum intact and N-mid osteocalcin (S-Total OC(N-Mid®)) were determined by using the Elecsys N-MID Osteocalcin Immunoassay (S-Total OC; N-MID®; Roche Diagnostics), with intra- and inter-assay CV of 2.3% and 2.4%, respectively. Serum intact osteocalcin (S-OC[1-49]), serum total osteocalcin (S-Total OC) and serum total carboxylated osteocalcin (S-COC) were determined by previously described, in-house protocols with intra- and inter-assay CV of less than 5% and 8%, respectively, for all the assays (184). Briefly, protocols are two-site assays based on two monoclonal antibodies (Mabs) in the combinations 3G8/2H9 (for S-OC[1-49]), 2H9/6F9 (for S-TotalOC) and 6F9/3H8 (for S-COC). Mab 3G8 is specific for intact OC, Mab 6H9 binds to fragment Gly⁷-Arg¹⁹, Mab 2H9 recognizes fragment Arg²⁰-Arg⁴³ and Mab 3H8 binds to the same fragment (Arg²⁰-Arg⁴³) but prefers OC-containing gamma-carboxyglutamic acid (Gla), with only 9% cross-reactivity with non-Gla-containing OC (185).

Markers of bone resorption

Serum C-terminal cross-linking telopeptides of type I collagen (S-CTX-I) was determined by Elecsys β -Cross Laps® immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics) with intraand inter-assay CV of 5.9% and 5.8%, respectively. Serum tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b (S-TRACP5b) was assessed by a solid phase, immunofixed enzyme activity assay as described earlier (186) with an intra- and inter-assay CV of 1.8% and 2.2%, respectively.

Urinary deoxypyridinoline (U-DPD) was measured by the Metra DPD Immunoassay (Quidel Corporation, San Diego, CA, USA) with an intra- and inter-assay CV of less than 12% and 10%, respectively.

Urinary osteocalcin

Urinary osteocalcin (U-OC) consists of fragments less than thirty residues in length from the middle region of the molecule (58). Three assays for the detection of various molecular forms of U-OC were analysed as described previously (59). Assays were based on the same Mabs as the assays for serum OC (see details above). Briefly, the two-site assay U-MidOC consisted of Mabs 6F9 and 3H8 and recognized the most abundant mid-molecule fragments of U-OC (spanning residues 7–31, 7–29, 6–29, 9–31, 7–32 and 7–33). Two-site assay U-LongOC (2H9/6F9) detects only the longest U-OC fragments (7–32, 7–33) with low affinity. Competitive assay U-TotalOC (3H8) also measures (in addition to the same mid-molecule fragments) more truncated U-OC fragments, starting from residue Asp¹⁴. The intra- and inter-assay CVs were 1.7% and < 12% (for U-MidOC), 4.3% and < 14% (for U-LongOC), and 14% and < 27% (for U-TotalOC), respectively (59).

Urinary creatinine

Urinary creatinine was measured by the kinetic Jaffe reaction with a Beckman synchron LX20-4, with CVs of 3% or less. All the measurements of urinary bone markers were corrected for urinary creatinine and expressed as ratios (**Papers I, II, III, and IV**).

Bone scintigraphy

Bone scintigraphy procedure was performed within 28 days after the DXA scanning (**Paper I**) according to a method described by Brenner *et al.* (180). An intravenous injection of 520 (517 \pm 15) MBq of ^{99m}Tc-MDP (Medronate®, Amersham International) was given at 09.00 h. Whole body imaging was performed directly (3 minutes) after injection and 5 hours after injection (14:00 h). The radioactivity was measured in the syringe both before and after injection, to enable an accurate determination of injected activity. A double-headed gamma camera system (Siemens Multispect 2) equipped with low-energy high-resolution collimators was used for the scan. The scan speed was 40 cm/min for the image at 3 minutes and 15 cm/min for the image after 5 hours.

Regions of interest (ROIs) were drawn on the anterior and posterior images to quantify the activity in the whole body, the urinary bladder, and the adductor muscles of both thighs, as described by Brenner *et al.* (180). The geometric mean of the anterior and posterior image was used in the calculation of activity content and the 3-minute image was used as a reference to calculate the percentage uptake in the later

image. For all data, the numbers of counts in the regions were corrected for decay of ^{99m}Tc. The soft tissue activity was calculated from the adductor compartment of both thighs as follows: activity of adductor muscles at 5 hours divided by the activity of adductor muscles at 3 minutes and multiplied by whole body activity at 3 minutes. All activity was considered to be excreted from the body, only via urine. The excretion was calculated from the difference in whole body activity between two imaging times. Correction for radioactive decay and scan speed was done. The total skeletal uptake (TSU) of ^{99m}Tc-MDP was calculated as whole body radioactivity at 3 min minus urinary excretion minus soft tissue uptake at 5 hours, all divided by whole body radioactivity at 3 min and expressed as a percentage (multiplied by 100) (180).

Summary of papers

Paper I

Bone turnover markers are correlated with total skeletal uptake of ^{99m}Tc-methylene diphosphonate (99mTc-MDP)

Is there a correlation between total skeletal uptake of ^{99m}Tc-MDP and bone turnover markers? Does total skeletal uptake of ^{99m}Tc-MDP correlate more to bone formation markers or to bone resorption markers?

Background: The skeletal uptake of ^{99m}Tc-MDP is regularly used to produce images of pathological bone uptake. In a clinical context, incorporation of ^{99m}Tc-MDP reflects bone turnover. This study was done to validate a panel of biochemical markers of bone formation and resorption with total skeletal uptake of ^{99m}Tc-MDP in a sample of post-menopausal women.

Methods: Twenty-two post-menopausal women (aged 52–80 years) volunteered to participate. The total body aBMD was measured by DXA. Scintigraphy was performed by injecting 520 MBq of ^{99m}Tc-MDP. Whole body images were taken 3 minutes and 5 hours after injection, to obtain whole body radioactivity. The TSU of ^{99m}Tc-MDP after 5 hours was calculated by subtracting the urinary loss and the soft tissue uptake from the first image and was expressed as a percentage of the radioactivity of the 3-minute image.

Nine BTMs including bone formation markers (S-Bone ALP and three different assays for S-OC), bone resorption markers (S-TRACP5b and S-CTX-I) and three different assays for U-OC were analysed.

Results: The median TSU of ^{99m}Tc-MDP was 23% (range 5–48%). There was a significant correlation between all bone turnover markers, with r-values from 0.52 (p = 0.013) to 0.90 (p < 0.001). The two bone resorption markers had numerically higher correlations (S-TRACP5b: r = 0.90; and S-CTX-I: r = 0.80) than the bone formation markers (S-Total OC: r = 0.72; and S-Bone ALP: r = 0.66), but the differences were not statistically significant. There was no correlation between the TSU of ^{99m}Tc-MDP and age, weight, body mass index or total body BMD.

Conclusions: There was a strong correlation between biochemical markers of bone turnover and skeletal metabolism as measured by TSU of ^{99m}Tc-MDP. There were no significant differences in correlations of ^{99m}Tc-MDP with bone formation markers and with bone resorption markers. This is probably due to the tight coupling between formation and resorption taking place in post-menopausal women.

Paper II. *Prediction of bone loss using biochemical markers of bone turnover*

Is it possible to predict change in areal bone mineral density over 5 years, using a single measurement of bone turnover markers?

Background: Low bone mass is the most important risk factor for fragility fractures. Identification of individuals with a high rate of bone loss is also important to prevent them from developing osteoporosis. Although one measurement with DXA can help diagnose individuals with osteoporosis, at least two measurements of DXA are needed with several years apart to detect those with rapid bone loss. Prediction of bone loss with bone turnover markers has been investigated in many studies and there have been conflicting results. There is limited information in this respect regarding the elderly.

Methods: Eleven BTMs (S-Bone ALP, four assays for S-OC, S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-DPD, and three assays for U-OC) were analysed in 75-year old women (n = 601) and prospectively compared to the annual rate of change in aBMD over 5 years in seven skeletal regions, using standardized regression coefficients (Beta_{std}), with and without adjustment for baseline total body BMC.

Results: Annual change in aBMD varied between +0.4% (spine) and -2.0% (femoral neck). Significant associations (p < 0.01) in the aBMD change of the leg region (derived from the total body measurement) were found for four different S-OCs (standardized regression coefficient -0.20 to -0.22), U-DPD (-0.19), S-TRACP5b (-0.19), S-CTX-I (-0.21), two of the three U-OC/crea (-0.16).

After adjustment for baseline total body BMC, associations were found for all S-OC:s (-0.11 to -0.15), two of the three U-OC:s (-0.14 to -0.16) and aBMD change at the total hip, and for three of the four S-OC:s (-0.14 to -0.15), S-TRACP5b (-0.11), two of the three U-OC:s (-0.14 to -0.15) and aBMD rate of change at the femoral neck. There were no significant results concerning change in aBMD at the lumbar spine.

Conclusion: In summary, we conclude that biochemical markers of bone turnover are associated with change in aBMD at some skeletal sites. However, there was no clear prediction of bone loss at clinically important sites such as the total hip, femoral neck and lumbar spine, thus limiting the usefulness of bone turnover markers as predictors of bone loss.

Paper III.

Bone turnover markers are correlated with quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus: 5-year longitudinal data

Is it possible to predict ultrasound changes of the calcaneus over 5 years, using a single measurement of bone turnover markers?

Background: Ultrasound wave propagation through the bone, which is measured by QUS, depends on structural properties of the bone such as bone mass, microarchitecture and tissue elasticity. Studies have shown that QUS predict fracture, independently of aBMD. Our knowledge of the association between BTMs and QUS variables is limited.

Methods: Eight BTMs (S-Bone ALP, three S-OCs, S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-DPD and U-MidOC) were analysed in 506 75-year-old women in the OPRA study and compared to baseline and 5-year change in calcaneal QUS. The associations between bone turnover markers and QUS were evaluated by using standardised regression coefficients (Beta_{std}), with and without adjustment for baseline body weight.

Results: There was a correlation between all markers and baseline QUS measurements (Beta_{std} values from -0.07 [p < 0.05] to -0.23 [p < 0.001]). When we evaluated the correlations between the baseline bone markers and 5-year prospective changes in QUS, all three serum osteocalcins showed correlations with changes of SoS and stiffness index (unadjusted and adjusted for baseline body weight) (Beta_{std} = -0.10 [p < 0.05] to -0.17 [p < 0.001]). S-CTX-I showed a correlation with changes in SoS (unadjusted and adjusted for weight) and unadjusted stiffness index (Beta_{std} = -0.09 to -0.10 [p < 0.05]). S-TRACP 5b and U-MidOC/crea showed correlations with unadjusted changes in SoS (Beta_{std} = -0.10 [p < 0.05]). S-Bone ALP did not show any correlation with any of the prospective changes in QUS, and none of the bone turnover markers correlated with prospective changes in BUA before or after adjustment of baseline body weight.

Conclusions: Bone turnover, as assessed at baseline with bone turnover markers, correlates with concomitantly assessed quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus, as well as with 5 year prospective changes in ultrasound variables.

Paper IV. Serial assessment of serum bone turnover markers identifies women with the highest rate of bone loss and osteoporosis risk

Can serial assessment of bone turnover markers improve our ability to predict bone loss?

Background: A single measurement of bone turnover markers has shown some degree of correlation with bone loss. We attempted to evaluate whether assessment of bone turnover markers on multiple occasions could improve the identification of women with rapid bone loss.

Methods: Women participating in OPRA study who had given serum and/or urine samples on all four occasions (at baseline and at the 1-, 3- and 5-year follow-ups) were included in this study. After exclusion of women taking hormone replacement therapy or bisphosphonates, 573 women were eligible for this analysis.

Eight BTMs (S-Bone ALP, three different assays for S-OC, S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-DPD and U-MidOC) were used to assess the bone turnover at baseline and at the 1-, 3- and 5-year follow-ups. Standardised linear regression coefficients (Beta_{sd}) were determined between BTMs and the change in total body aBMD over 5 years (percentage of baseline aBMD). BTMs were introduced into analyses as single measurements (baseline) or as the average of two (baseline and 1-year), three (baseline, 1-year and 3-year) or four (baseline, 1-year, 3-year and 5-year) measurements of the same BTM.

Results: Baseline BTMs showed a weak correlation with change in total body aBMD, but the association was more pronounced when we used the average of two measurements of each marker (standardised regression coefficient from -0.12 to -0.23, p < 0.01). Adding a third and a fourth measurement further strengthened the correlation (with coefficients of up to -0.30, p < 0.001). Changes in BTMs did not correlate to bone loss as strongly as the average values. Women with constantly high turnover lost significantly more bone at total body (-2.6%) than women with intermediate (-1.6%) or low turnover (-0.2%, p for trend < 0.001). They also had greater bone loss at the hip (-8.3%, -6.0% and -5.1%, respectively; p = 0.01). Results were similar in the subgroup of women with osteopenia.

Conclusion: Consecutive assessment of bone turnover may improve the identification of women with high bone loss, particularly osteopenic women at high risk of developing osteoporosis, and may assist in targeting pharmacological treatment.

Paper V. Effect of precision on longitudinal follow-up of bone mineral density measurements in elderly women and men

How does the precision error of DXA influence longitudinal monitoring of elderly individuals? Are the monitoring time intervals used in clinical practice long enough to identify a true change in bone mineral density?

Background: Repeated bone densitometry is used to assess treatment effects and to monitor bone loss. In common practice, individuals with risk of developing osteoporosis are followed up with DXA with durations of 1–2 years. The precision error influences the least significant change (LSC) detectable.

Methods: We assessed the capacity to detect changes in bone density over a 5-year period in two population-based cohorts of elderly individuals. Six hundred and ninety women from the Malmö OPRA study, with a mean age of 75.2 years (SD = 0.1), were measured using Lunar DPX-L. In addition, 211 men from the MrOs study in Malmö, mean age 74.7 years (SD = 3.2), were measured using Lunar Prodigy at baseline. For both cohorts, follow-up DXA was performed 5 years later. Precision error was determined for Lunar DPX-L by performing duplicate measurements on 30 elderly women. For Lunar Prodigy, triplicate measurements on 15 elderly women and duplicate measurements on 30 elderly men were performed. Individuals were repositioned between measurements. The number of individuals whose aBMD changed more than the LSC (defined as $2.77 \times \text{precision error}$) was calculated at the follow-up.

Results: At baseline, aBMD (SD) in g/cm^2 for women was: total body (TB) 1.008 (0.093), total hip (TH) 0.857 (0.147) and lumbar spine (LS) 0.987 (0.190); in men, TB 1.187 (0.097), TH 0.982 (0.138) and LS 1.240 (0.190). Precision error (in g/cm^2) for Lunar DPX-L in women was 0.010 (TB), 0.028 (TH) and 0.016 (LS). Precision error using Lunar Prodigy for women was 0.009 (TB), 0.009 (TH) and 0.039 (LS). Precision error using Lunar Prodigy for men was 0.007 (TB), 0.014 (TH), and 0.031 (LS).

Mean change in aBMD (in g/cm²) per year in women was, for TB -0.003 (0.007), for TH -0.011 (0.016) and for LS 0.004 (0.015). Corresponding results in men were - 0.003 (0.006), -0.006 (0.009) and 0.005 (0.016) at TB, TH and LS respectively. The number of individuals with 5-year aBMD change at TB that exceeded the LSC was 244 women (38.6%) and 73 men (35.6%). The corresponding results at TH were 265 women (41.4%) and 78 men (38.6%); at LS the numbers were 303 women (45.0%) and 51 men (24.6%).

Monitoring time interval (i.e. LSC/median rate of change in aBMD) for both populations was 8 years (for TH aBMD) and 13 years (for LS aBMD). Based on

Prodigy precision data, the monitoring time intervals for women were 3 and 32 years for TH and LS, respectively.

Conclusions: Precision has an influence on the shortest follow-up time between repeated scans. In these population-based cohorts, several years appear to be needed to be able to detect a significant change between measurements. A shorter follow-up time can be used only when a high degree of bone loss is expected.

General discussion

The overall aim of the work described in this thesis was to improve the prevention of fragility fractures in the future. There are numerous risk factors for fragility fracture. Bone mineral density is one of the most important risk factors that is potentially modifiable. For diagnostic purposes, a diagnostic threshold is used for bone density test results, below which the term osteoporosis is used. However, a large proportion of individuals who sustain a fragility fracture are not osteoporotic (6,89,187). Apart from the fact that they do not take other risk factors into account, bone density test results only reveal the current situation. They do not show the ongoing bone turnover; thus, they do not provide information on future changes in bone density.

There are several reasons for the development and use of bone turnover markers. The work in this thesis illustrates efforts to find ways of assessing future bone loss by the measurement of bone turnover markers (**Papers II and III**), of how to improve this assessment (**Paper IV**), and to investigate whether some markers are more specific than others (**Papers I–IV**). Since the time required to assess bone density changes with bone density equipment is very long (Paper V), it seems unreasonable to follow up compliance and effect of anti-osteoporotic medication by repeated bone density measurements.

Currently, bone turnover markers are being used extensively in research applications and also being tested as tools for the management of metabolic bone diseases such as osteoporosis and Paget's disease in clinical practice, because these markers are noninvasive and relatively inexpensive. Monitoring of the efficacy of bone-active drugs is currently the most promising clinical application of bone turnover markers, because of the possibility of detecting a change in the levels of bone turnover markers within a few weeks of treatment (106-114). Some markers, particularly resorption markers such as S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-CTX-I, U-NTX-I and U-DPD, and some bone formation markers such as S-bone ALP and S-OC, have shown some degree of fracture predictability in different populations (Table 3), but the prediction is not strong enough to use in individual patients. The fracture predictability afforded by bone turnover markers is weaker than the predictability afforded by DXA (104,105), but it is somewhat inconsistent between studies (85,90-100).

A high rate of bone turnover is associated with a high rate of bone loss and osteoporosis (Table 2) (188,189). Early detection of individuals who are at high risk of developing osteoporosis could be important for clinical decision-making. In particular, individuals with osteopenia and individuals with a high rate of bone loss may need more careful follow-up.

In Paper II and III, baseline bone turnover markers, in particular S-OCs, U-DPD/crea, S-TRACP5b, S-CTX-I, U-LongOC/cea and U-MidOC/crea could be

correlated to rate of change of aBMD in the legs. To some degree, there were correlations with rate of change of aBMD in the arms, in the total body, in part of the body, in the total hip and in the femoral neck. None of the markers were found to be correlated to rate of change of aBMD at the lumbar spine; nor did S-Bone ALP and U-TotalOC/crea show any correlation with rate of change of aBMD. When the correlation between bone turnover markers and 5-year change of QUS variables was examined, all markers except S-Bone ALP showed correlations with changes in SoS, while none of the markers showed any correlation with changes in BUA (**Paper III**). When the mean of serial measurement of bone turnover markers was used instead of baseline measurement, the correlations became stronger as the number of samples used increased, and the women with constantly elevated levels of bone turnover markers had a significantly higher rate of bone loss (**Paper IV**).

In general, the correlation between bone turnover markers and the change in aBMD was not strong. The strongest correlation coefficients were 0.22 when the baseline levels were used, and they were 0.32 when the mean of four serial measurements was used. None of the markers proved to be superior to the others. Bone formation and resorption markers had almost similar magnitudes of correlations. This could be due to the tight coupling of bone formation and resorption. This idea is supported by the results of **Paper I**, in which no difference between bone formation markers and resorption markers in TSU of ^{99m}Tc-MDP was found. Bone turnover markers are released from the whole skeleton. This may be the reason for higher correlations with bone turnover markers at large skeletal sites including the total body, the partial body and the legs, than smaller sites such as the femoral neck and the lumbar spine (**Papers II and IV**).

Many other factors also affect the clinical usefulness of bone turnover markers. Preanalytical conditions affecting bone turnover markers such as age, gender, menopausal state, ethnicity and recent fracture are not controllable, whereas other factors such as the effect of food intake, physical activity and circadian rhythm can be controlled (134). The OPRA study was designed to control for factors such as age, gender, ethnicity and menstrual status. Samples were taken in the morning in the nonfasting state, which could have affected the results, mainly the S-CTX-I levels (139). Many other factors such as time of the day, recent fracture and level of physical activity may have an effect on bone turnover markers. The study design was deliberately not changed during the study period, and all samples were collected in the same manner to make comparisons possible within the cohort.

Bone density has a smaller annual change or response to anti-resorptive and anabolic treatment compared to the response of bone turnover markers. Precision has an effect on the shortest follow-up interval between repeated scans. In the population-based cohorts in **Paper V**, several years were needed to detect a significant change between measurements. The estimated monitoring time intervals (i.e. least significant change/median rate of change in aBMD) were between 3 and 32 years, depending on

the site of measurement and the equipment used. Only when a high degree of bone loss is expected may a shorter follow-up time be useful. Thus, DXA has shortcomings in detecting rapid losers and individuals with a high risk of developing osteoporosis.

Single measurements of bone turnover markers and follow-up measurements of DXA both have limitations in their ability to detect individuals with rapid bone loss. Serial assessments of bone turnover markers can substantially improve the ability to find individuals with increased loss of bone density. Whether or not intervals shorter than one year could be used to improve the predictive ability of bone turnover markers remains to be evaluated.

To the best of my knowledge, the Malmö OPRA study has been the largest study in elderly women to assess the ability to predict bone loss over several years. The design of the OPRA study has several advantages: it has (i) a well-defined population, (ii) a high attendance rate, (iii) a thorough ascertainment of fracture, (iv) a long follow-up, and (v) the use of novel and established bone turnover markers.

Conclusions

There is a correlation between levels of bone turnover markers and the rate of bone loss in elderly women, with varying degrees of correlation coefficients at different skeletal regions. In general, bone turnover markers correlate better with change in aBMD at large skeletal sites, such as the total body, and weight-bearing sites such as the legs, than with aBMD change at specific clinically important regions such as the femoral neck and the total hip. Correlations between bone turnover markers and rate of bone loss become stronger when serial measurements of bone turnover markers are used. The individuals with constantly high levels of bone turnover markers have higher change in aBMD. However, these correlations may not be strong enough to be predictive of bone loss at the level of the individual patient. DXA is used to monitor change in aBMD to aid in treatment decisions. However, long durations of follow-up are needed to detect aBMD changes in elderly women and men that exceed the least significant change. DXA is therefore of limited use in the longitudinal monitoring of bone loss.

Future perspectives

Bone turnover markers are used extensively in research applications, and also as tools for the management of skeletal disorders in clinical practice. Novel, more specific markers and improvements in and standardization of measurement techniques should enhance the reliability of, and facilitate the use of bone turnover markers in clinical practice. It is reasonable to believe that bone turnover markers will replace part of the DXA-based treatment monitoring in the future. Bone turnover markers may also assist in the decision of whom to treat with anti-osteoporotic medication. Improvement of the precision of DXA measurements by using improved techniques and standardized guidelines could shorten the intervals required for monitoring.

Sammanfattning

Årligen får sig 70000 svenskar en s.k. osteoporosfraktur, en fraktur som åtminstone delvis beror på att skelettet är skört. Hälften av alla 50-åriga kvinnor kommer under sin återstående livstid att drabbas av en sådan fraktur. Osteoporos diagnostiseras genom en speciell röntgenteknik, s.k. DXA-teknik. Denna teknik har den begränsningen att den bara kan ge besked hur skelettets tillstånd är just vid mättillfället men den kan inte hjälpa oss att förutsäga vem som kommer att drabbas av osteoporos.

Benmarkörer är kemiska substanser som ständigt frisätts från det "levande" skelettet. Skelettet förnyas hela tiden tack vare att vissa celler bildar och andra celler förstör benvävnad. I tider av tillväxt, som under barnaåren, överväger förstås nybildningen, i ung vuxen ålder är skelettet i balans men senare i livet överväger nedbrytningen och vi kan riskera att drabbas av osteoporos. Benmarkörer som kan mätas i blod eller urin kan hjälpa oss att avgöra hur benomsättningen är hos en enskild patient. Tidigare vetenskapliga studier har visat att vi med hjälp av sådana benmarkörer i viss mån kan förutsäga vilka patienter som inte bara kommer att få osteoporos utan också kommer att få fraktur, nämligen de patienter som förlorar benvävnad med onaturligt snabb hastighet.

I denna avhandling har ett stort antal benmarkörer analyserats hos sammanlagt över 1000 kvinnor. I **arbete 1** var vi intresserade att se om det finns en samvariation mellan benmarkörer och upptaget av ett radioaktivt ämne i benvävnaden. I en grupp av 22 kvinnor samvarierade de analyserade benmarkörerna mycket kraftfullt med upptaget av det radioaktiva ämnet. Både markörerna för bennybildning och markörerna för bennedbrytning samvarierade lika mycket med upptaget av det radioaktiva ämnet. Det finns en stark koppling mellan nybildning och nedbrytning av benvävnad även hos äldre kvinnor.

I **arbete 2** undersöktes om benmarkörer kunde förutse framtida benförlust hos en stor grupp av 75-åriga kvinnor. Blodprov och urinprov samlades in vid starten för undersökningen. Bentätheten uppmättes med DXA-teknik vid starten och efter 5 år. Vi fann ett statistiskt säkerställt samband mellan halten av vissa specifika benmarkörer och benförlust över de kommande 5 åren.

Förutom att mäta bentäthet med hjälp av DXA-teknik så kan man mäta bentäthet med ultraljudsteknik. Detta sker då vanligtvis i hälbenet. Ultraljudsmätning har både för- och nackdelar jämfört med DXA-mätning. Utmärkande för ultraljudsmätning är att man hävdat att det mätvärde som detta genererar skulle avspegla benvävnadens kvalitet snarare än mängden benvävnad. Eftersom det också hävdats att benmarkörer avspeglar benkvalitet så ville vi i **arbete 3** upprepa undersökningsförfarandet från arbete 2 men byta ut DXA-mätning mot ultraljudsmätning. Liksom i arbete 2 fanns ett säkerställt samband mellan halten av vissa specifika benmarkörer och förändring av ultraljudsvärdena över 5 år. I väsentliga drag var det samma benmarkörer som visade sig fungera som i det föregående arbetet. Dessutom var markörernas förutsägbarhet för benförlust uppmätt med DXA-teknik eller med ultraljud väsentligen densamma.

I en strävan att med hjälp av benmarkörer försöka förbättra förutsägbarheten för framtida benförlust gjordes i **arbete 4** upprepade blod- och urinprovstagningar under 5-årsperioden. Då genomsnittshalten av dessa benmarkörer bestämdes så kunde en förbättrad förutsägbarhet för benförlust fås. Kvinnor med konstant höga halter i blod eller urin hade en större förlusthastighet av benvävnad under de 5 åren.

Det finns en relativt stor teknikosäkerhet när man analyserar benmarkörer. D.v.s. att även om man utför analysproceduren på identiskt sätt och från samma prov så kan man få olika resultat. Om det dessutom är två olika prover, men fortfarande från samma patient, så varierar utfallet ännu mer. Detta är en svaghet för den kliniska användbarheten av befintliga benmarkörer. Mätning av bentäthet med hjälp av DXAteknik har hävdats ha betydligt mindre teknikosäkerhet vid upprepade mätningar. I **arbete 5** undersökte vi vilket mätintervall som kan rekommenderas. I denna grupp av äldre individer behövdes ett mätintervall på flera år för att med DXA-teknik säkert kunna upptäcka en benförlust. Bara hos de individer där man har särskild anledning att misstänka en ovanligt snabb förlust kan det vara motiverat att upprepa en bentäthetsmätning inom ett par år.

References

- 1. Anonymous 1991 Consensus development conference: prophylaxis and treatment of osteoporosis. American Journal of Medicine **90**(1):107-10.
- 2. Anonymous 1994 Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Report of a WHO Study Group World Health Organanization Technical Report Series 843. World health Organization, pp 1-129.
- 3. Sambrook P, Cooper C 2006 Osteoporosis. Lancet 367(9527):2010-8.
- 4. Melton LJ, 3rd, Chrischilles EA, Cooper C, Lane AW, Riggs BL 1992 Perspective. How many women have osteoporosis? Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 7(9):1005-10.
- Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, O'Connor MK, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL 1998 Bone density and fracture risk in men. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 13(12):1915-23.
- 6. Schuit SC, van der Klift M, Weel AE, de Laet CE, Burger H, Seeman E, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, van Leeuwen JP, Pols HA 2004 Fracture incidence and association with bone mineral density in elderly men and women: the Rotterdam Study. Bone **34**(1):195-202.
- 7. Melton LJ, 3rd, Thamer M, Ray NF, Chan JK, Chesnut CH, 3rd, Einhorn TA, Johnston CC, Raisz LG, Silverman SL, Siris ES 1997 Fractures attributable to osteoporosis: report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research **12**(1):16-23.
- 8. Atik OS, Gunal I, Korkusuz F 2006 Burden of osteoporosis. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research **443**:19-24.
- 9. Gabriel SE, Tosteson AN, Leibson CL, Crowson CS, Pond GR, Hammond CS, Melton LJ, 3rd 2002 Direct medical costs attributable to osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporosis International **13**(4):323-30.
- Ray NF, Chan JK, Thamer M, Melton LJ, 3rd 1997 Medical expenditures for the treatment of osteoporotic fractures in the United States in 1995: report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 12(1):24-35.
- 11. Compston J 2004 Action Plan for the prevention of osteoporotic fractures in the European Community. Osteoporosis International **15**(4):259-62.
- 12. Lindsay R, Silverman SL, Cooper C, Hanley DA, Barton I, Broy SB, Licata A, Benhamou L, Geusens P, Flowers K, Stracke H, Seeman E 2001 Risk of new vertebral fracture in the year following a fracture. JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association **285**(3):320-3.
- 13. Chrischilles E, Shireman T, Wallace R 1994 Costs and health effects of osteoporotic fractures. Bone **15**(4):377-86.
- 14. Schurch MA, Rizzoli R, Mermillod B, Vasey H, Michel JP, Bonjour JP 1996 A prospective study on socioeconomic aspects of fracture of the proximal femur. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research **11**(12):1935-42.

- 15. Sernbo I, Johnell O 1993 Consequences of a hip fracture: a prospective study over 1 year. Osteoporosis International **3**(3):148-53.
- 16. Eastell R, Cedel SL, Wahner HW, Riggs BL, Melton LJ, 3rd 1991 Classification of vertebral fractures. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 6(3):207-15.
- 17. Van Staa TP, Dennison EM, Leufkens HG, Cooper C 2001 Epidemiology of fractures in England and Wales. Bone **29**(6):517-22.
- Harvey N SE, C Cooper 2006 Epidemeology of Osteoporotic Fractures. In: Favus M (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, 6 ed. American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, Washington D.C., pp 244-248.
- 19. Raisz LG 2005 Pathogenesis of osteoporosis: concepts, conflicts, and prospects. Journal of Clinical Investigation **115**(12):3318-25.
- 20. Parfitt AM 2002 Targeted and nontargeted bone remodeling: relationship to basic multicellular unit origination and progression. Bone **30**(1):5-7.
- 21. Arnaud CD, Sanchez SD 1990 The role of calcium in osteoporosis. Annual Review of Nutrition **10:**397-414.
- 22. Raisz LG 2001 Pathogenesis of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders 2(1):5-12.
- 23. Rubin C RJ 2006 Biomechanics and Mechanobiology of Bone. In: MF F (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, 6 ed. American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, Washington, D.C., pp 36-42.
- 24. Rubin C, Turner AS, Bain S, Mallinckrodt C, McLeod K 2001 Anabolism. Low mechanical signals strengthen long bones. Nature **412**(6847):603-4.
- 25. Rupprecht M, Pogoda P, Mumme M, Rueger JM, Puschel K, Amling M 2006 Bone microarchitecture of the calcaneus and its changes in aging: a histomorphometric analysis of 60 human specimens. Journal of Orthopaedics Research **24**(4):664-74.
- Fazzalari NL 1993 Trabecular microfracture. Calcified Tissue International 53 Suppl 1:S143-6; discussion S146-7.
- 27. Baron R 1999 Anatomy and ultrastructure of Bone. In: Favus MJ (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism: An Official Publication of the American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, 4 ed. Lippincort Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 3-10.
- 28. Landrigan PJ, Todd AC 1994 Lead poisoning. The Western Journal of Medicine **161**(2):153-9.
- 29. Bagi CM, Hanson N, Andresen C, Pero R, Lariviere R, Turner CH, Laib A 2006 The use of micro-CT to evaluate cortical bone geometry and strength in nude rats: correlation with mechanical testing, pQCT and DXA. Bone **38**(1):136-44.
- 30. Mundy G 1999 Bone remodeling. In: Favus M (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic bone diseases and disorders of mineral metabolism: An official publication of

The American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, 4 ed. Lippincort Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 30-38.

- 31. Viguet-Carrin S, Garnero P, Delmas PD 2006 The role of collagen in bone strength. Osteoporosis International **17**(3):319-36.
- 32. Aubin J.E. LJB, Stein G.S. 2006 Bone Formation: Maturation and Functional Activities of Osteoblast Lineage Cells. Primer On The Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism:20-29.
- Heaney RP 2003 How does bone support calcium homeostasis? Bone 33(3):264-8.
- Kanis JA 1994 Calcium nutrition and its implications for osteoporosis. Part I. Children and healthy adults. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 48(11):757-67.
- 35. Nordin BE 1997 Calcium and osteoporosis. Nutrition 13(7-8):664-86.
- Sandler RB, Slemenda CW, LaPorte RE, Cauley JA, Schramm MM, Barresi ML, Kriska AM 1985 Postmenopausal bone density and milk consumption in childhood and adolescence. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 42(2):270-4.
- 37. Baron R 2003 General Principles of Bone Biology. In: Favus MJ (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism: An Official Publication of the American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, 5 ed. Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins., Philadelphia, USA, pp 1-8.
- 38. Miller SC, de Saint-Georges L, Bowman BM, Jee WS 1989 Bone lining cells: structure and function. Scanning Microscopy **3**(3):953-60; discussion 960-1.
- 39. Seeman E 2006 Osteocytes--martyrs for integrity of bone strength. Osteoporosis International **17**(10):1443-8.
- 40. Ross FP 2006 Osteoclast Biology and Bone Resorption. In: Favus MJ (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism: An Official Publication of the American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, 6 ed. American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, Washington, D.C., pp 30-35.
- 41. Suda T, Takahashi N, Udagawa N, Jimi E, Gillespie MT, Martin TJ 1999 Modulation of osteoclast differentiation and function by the new members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor and ligand families. Endocrine Reviews **20**(3):345-57.
- 42. Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL 2003 Osteoclast differentiation and activation. Nature **423**(6937):337-42.
- 43. Rodan GA, Martin TJ 2000 Therapeutic approaches to bone diseases. Science **289**(5484):1508-14.
- 44. Manolagas SC 2000 Birth and death of bone cells: basic regulatory mechanisms and implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of osteoporosis. Endocrine Reviews **21**(2):115-37.
- 45. Stepan JJ, Alenfeld F, Boivin G, Feyen JH, Lakatos P 2003 Mechanisms of action of antiresorptive therapies of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Endocrine Regulations **37**(4):225-38.

- 46. Raisz LG 1999 Physiology and pathophysiology of bone remodeling. Clinical Chemistry **45**(8 Pt 2):1353-8.
- 47. Mundy GR, Chen D, Oyajobi BO 2003 Bone Remodeling. In: Favus MJ (ed.) Primer on the Metabolic Bone Disease and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism.: An Official Publication of the American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, 5 ed. Lippincort Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA, pp 46-58.
- 48. Matkovic V, Jelic T, Wardlaw GM, Ilich JZ, Goel PK, Wright JK, Andon MB, Smith KT, Heaney RP 1994 Timing of peak bone mass in Caucasian females and its implication for the prevention of osteoporosis. Inference from a cross-sectional model. Journal of Clinical Investigation **93**(2):799-808.
- Ho AY, Kung AW 2005 Determinants of peak bone mineral density and bone area in young women. Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism 23(6):470-5.
- 50. Kanis JA, Adami S 1994 Bone loss in the elderly. Osteoporosis International **4 Suppl 1:**59-65.
- 51. Weiss MJ, Ray K, Henthorn PS, Lamb B, Kadesch T, Harris H 1988 Structure of the human liver/bone/kidney alkaline phosphatase gene. J Biol Chem **263**(24):12002-10.
- 52. Garnero P, Delmas PD 1993 Assessment of the serum levels of bone alkaline phosphatase with a new immunoradiometric assay in patients with metabolic bone disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77(4):1046-53.
- 53. Hoang QQ, Sicheri F, Howard AJ, Yang DS 2003 Bone recognition mechanism of porcine osteocalcin from crystal structure. Nature **425**(6961):977-80.
- 54. Garnero P, Grimaux M, Seguin P, Delmas PD 1994 Characterization of immunoreactive forms of human osteocalcin generated in vivo and in vitro. J Bone Miner Res **9**(2):255-64.
- 55. Delmas PD, Christiansen C, Mann KG, Price PA 1990 Bone Gla protein (osteocalcin) assay standardization report. J Bone Miner Res 5(1):5-11.
- 56. Ivaska KK, Hentunen TA, Vaaraniemi J, Ylipahkala H, Pettersson K, Vaananen HK 2004 Release of intact and fragmented osteocalcin molecules from bone matrix during bone resorption in vitro. J Biol Chem **279**(18):18361-9.
- 57. Price PA, Williamson MK, Lothringer JW 1981 Origin of the vitamin Kdependent bone protein found in plasma and its clearance by kidney and bone. J Biol Chem **256**(24):12760-6.
- 58. Ivaska KK, Hellman J, Likojarvi J, Kakonen SM, Gerdhem P, Akesson K, Obrant KJ, Pettersson K, Vaananen HK 2003 Identification of novel proteolytic forms of osteocalcin in human urine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **306**(4):973-80.
- Ivaska KK, Kakonen SM, Gerdhem P, Obrant KJ, Pettersson K, Vaananen HK 2005 Urinary osteocalcin as a marker of bone metabolism. Clin Chem 51(3):618-28.

- 60. Srivastava AK, Mohan S, Singer FR, Baylink DJ 2002 A urine midmolecule osteocalcin assay shows higher discriminatory power than a serum midmolecule osteocalcin assay during short-term alendronate treatment of osteoporotic patients. Bone **31**(1):62-9.
- 61. Szulc P, Seeman E, Delmas PD 2000 Biochemical measurements of bone turnover in children and adolescents. Osteoporos Int **11**(4):281-94.
- 62. Khosla S, Kleerekoper M 2003 Biochemical Markers of Bone Turnover. In: Favus MJ (ed.) Primer on Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism, 5 ed. American Society of Bone and Mineral Research, Washington D.C., pp 166-172.
- 63. Halleen JM, Raisanen S, Salo JJ, Reddy SV, Roodman GD, Hentunen TA, Lehenkari PP, Kaija H, Vihko P, Vaananen HK 1999 Intracellular fragmentation of bone resorption products by reactive oxygen species generated by osteoclastic tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase. J Biol Chem **274**(33):22907-10.
- 64. Rissanen JP, Suominen MI, Peng Z, Halleen JM 2008 Secreted tartrateresistant acid phosphatase 5b is a Marker of osteoclast number in human osteoclast cultures and the rat ovariectomy model. Calcif Tissue Int 82(2):108-15.
- 65. Hannon RA, Clowes JA, Eagleton AC, Al Hadari A, Eastell R, Blumsohn A 2004 Clinical performance of immunoreactive tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase isoform 5b as a marker of bone resorption. Bone **34**(1):187-94.
- 66. Halleen JM, Tiitinen SL, Ylipahkala H, Fagerlund KM, Väänänen HK 2006 Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b (TRACP 5b) as a marker of bone resorption. Clin Lab **52**(9-10):499-509.
- 67. Seibel MJ, Robins SP, Bilezikian JP 1992 Urinary pyridinium crosslinks of collagen Specific markers of bone resorption in metabolic bone disease. Trends Endocrinol Metab **3**(7):263-70.
- 68. Garnero P, Ferreras M, Karsdal MA, Nicamhlaoibh R, Risteli J, Borel O, Qvist P, Delmas PD, Foged NT, Delaisse JM 2003 The type I collagen fragments ICTP and CTX reveal distinct enzymatic pathways of bone collagen degradation. J Bone Miner Res **18**(5):859-67.
- 69. Fledelius C, Johnsen AH, Cloos PA, Bonde M, Qvist P 1997 Characterization of urinary degradation products derived from type I collagen. Identification of a beta-isomerized Asp-Gly sequence within the Cterminal telopeptide (alpha1) region. J Biol Chem **272**(15):9755-63.
- 70. Sornay-Rendu E, Munoz F, Duboeuf F, Delmas PD 2005 Rate of forearm bone loss is associated with an increased risk of fracture independently of bone mass in postmenopausal women: the OFELY study. J Bone Miner Res **20**(11):1929-35.
- 71. Bonnick SL, Johnston CC, Jr., Kleerekoper M, Lindsay R, Miller P, Sherwood L, Siris E 2001 Importance of precision in bone density measurements. J Clin Densitom 4(2):105-10.

- 72. Bauer DC, Sklarin PM, Stone KL, Black DM, Nevitt MC, Ensrud KE, Arnaud CD, Genant HK, Garnero P, Delmas PD, Lawaetz H, Cummings SR 1999 Biochemical markers of bone turnover and prediction of hip bone loss in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 14(8):1404-10.
- 73. Cosman F, Nieves J, Wilkinson C, Schnering D, Shen V, Lindsay R 1996 Bone density change and biochemical indices of skeletal turnover. Calcif Tissue Int **58**(4):236-43.
- 74. Lenora J, Ivaska KK, Obrant KJ, Gerdhem P 2007 Prediction of bone loss using biochemical markers of bone turnover. Osteoporos Int **18**(9):1297-305.
- 75. Iki M, Morita A, Ikeda Y, Sato Y, Akiba T, Matsumoto T, Nishino H, Kagamimori S, Kagawa Y, Yoneshima H 2006 Biochemical markers of bone turnover predict bone loss in perimenopausal women but not in postmenopausal women-the Japanese Population-based Osteoporosis (JPOS) Cohort Study. Osteoporos Int **17**(7):1086-95.
- Löfman O, Magnusson P, Toss G, Larsson L 2005 Common biochemical markers of bone turnover predict future bone loss: a 5-year follow-up study. Clin Chim Acta 356(1-2):67-75.
- 77. Ross PD, Knowlton W 1998 Rapid bone loss is associated with increased levels of biochemical markers. J Bone Miner Res **13**(2):297-302.
- 78. Iki M, Morita A, Ikeda Y, Sato Y, Akiba T, Matsumoto T, Nishino H, Kagamimori S, Kagawa Y, Yoneshima H 2007 Biochemical markers of bone turnover may predict progression to osteoporosis in osteopenic women: the JPOS Cohort Study. J Bone Miner Metab **25**(2):122-9.
- 79. Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Duboeuf F, Delmas PD 1999 Markers of bone turnover predict postmenopausal forearm bone loss over 4 years: the OFELY study. J Bone Miner Res **14**(9):1614-21.
- 80. Dresner-Pollak R, Parker RA, Poku M, Thompson J, Seibel MJ, Greenspan SL 1996 Biochemical markers of bone turnover reflect femoral bone loss in elderly women. Calcif Tissue Int **59**(5):328-33.
- 81. Hoshino H, Kushida K, Takahashi M, Yamazaki K, Denda M, Atsumi K, Oikawa M, Toyoyama O, Kawana K, Inoue T 2000 Changes in levels of biochemical markers and ultrasound indices of Os calcis across the menopausal transition. Osteoporos Int **11**(2):128-33.
- 82. Yoshimura N, Hashimoto T, Sakata K, Morioka S, Kasamatsu T, Cooper C 1999 Biochemical markers of bone turnover and bone loss at the lumbar spine and femoral neck: the Taiji study. Calcif Tissue Int **65**(3):198-202.
- 83. Chapurlat RD, Gamero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Arlot ME, Claustrat B, Delmas PD 2000 Longitudinal study of bone loss in pre- and perimenopausal women: evidence for bone loss in perimenopausal women. Osteoporos Int **11**(6):493-8.
- 84. Dennison E, Eastell R, Fall CH, Kellingray S, Wood PJ, Cooper C 1999 Determinants of bone loss in elderly men and women: a prospective population-based study. Osteoporos Int **10**(5):384-91.

- 85. Bruyere O, Collette J, Delmas P, Rouillon A, Roux C, Seidel L, Richy F, Reginster JY 2003 Interest of biochemical markers of bone turnover for long-term prediction of new vertebral fracture in postmenopausal osteoporotic women. Maturitas **44**(4):259-65.
- 86. Iki M, Kajita E, Dohi Y, Nishino H, Kusaka Y, Tsuchida C, Yamamoto K, Ishii Y 1996 Age, menopause, bone turnover markers and lumbar bone loss in healthy Japanese women. Maturitas 25(1):59-67.
- 87. Rogers A, Hannon RA, Eastell R 2000 Biochemical markers as predictors of rates of bone loss after menopause. J Bone Miner Res **15**(7):1398-404.
- 88. Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kroger H, Mellstrom D, Meunier PJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, O'Neill T, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A 2005 Predictive value of BMD for hip and other fractures. J Bone Miner Res 20(7):1185-94.
- 89. Sanders KM, Nicholson GC, Watts JJ, Pasco JA, Henry MJ, Kotowicz MA, Seeman E 2006 Half the burden of fragility fractures in the community occur in women without osteoporosis. When is fracture prevention cost-effective? Bone **38**(5):694-700.
- 90. Tromp AM, Ooms ME, Popp-Snijders C, Roos JC, Lips P 2000 Predictors of fractures in elderly women. Osteoporos Int **11**(2):134-40.
- 91. Gerdhem P, Ivaska KK, Alatalo SL, Halleen JM, Hellman J, Isaksson A, Pettersson K, Vaananen HK, Akesson K, Obrant KJ 2004 Biochemical markers of bone metabolism and prediction of fracture in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 19(3):386-93.
- 92. Chapurlat RD, Garnero P, Breart G, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD 2000 Serum type I collagen breakdown product (serum CTX) predicts hip fracture risk in elderly women: the EPIDOS study. Bone **27**(2):283-6.
- 93. Ross PD, Kress BC, Parson RE, Wasnich RD, Armour KA, Mizrahi IA 2000 Serum bone alkaline phosphatase and calcaneus bone density predict fractures: a prospective study. Osteoporos Int **11**(1):76-82.
- 94. Åkesson K, Ljunghall S, Jonsson B, Sernbo I, Johnell O, Gärdsell P, Obrant KJ 1995 Assessment of biochemical markers of bone metabolism in relation to the occurrence of fracture: a retrospective and prospective population-based study of women. J Bone Miner Res **10**(11):1823-9.
- 95. Garnero P, Sornay-Rendu E, Claustrat B, Delmas PD 2000 Biochemical markers of bone turnover, endogenous hormones and the risk of fractures in postmenopausal women: the OFELY study. J Bone Miner Res **15**(8):1526-36.
- 96. Garnero P, Cloos P, Sornay-Rendu E, Qvist P, Delmas PD 2002 Type I collagen racemization and isomerization and the risk of fracture in postmenopausal women: the OFELY prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 17(5):826-33.
- 97. Garnero P, Hausherr E, Chapuy MC, Marcelli C, Grandjean H, Muller C, Cormier C, Breart G, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD 1996 Markers of bone

resorption predict hip fracture in elderly women: the EPIDOS Prospective Study. J Bone Miner Res **11**(10):1531-8.

- 98. Sornay-Rendu E, Munoz F, Garnero P, Duboeuf F, Delmas PD 2005 Identification of osteopenic women at high risk of fracture: the OFELY study. J Bone Miner Res **20**(10):1813-9.
- 99. Luukinen H, Kakonen SM, Pettersson K, Koski K, Laippala P, Lovgren T, Kivela SL, Vaananen HK 2000 Strong prediction of fractures among older adults by the ratio of carboxylated to total serum osteocalcin. J Bone Miner Res 15(12):2473-8.
- 100. Szulc P, Chapuy MC, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD 1996 Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin is a marker of the risk of hip fracture: a three year follow-up study. Bone **18**(5):487-8.
- 101. Meier C, Nguyen TV, Center JR, Seibel MJ, Eisman JA 2005 Bone resorption and osteoporotic fractures in elderly men: the dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. J Bone Miner Res **20**(4):579-87.
- 102. Szulc P, Montella A, Delmas PD 2008 High bone turnover is associated with accelerated bone loss but not with increased fracture risk in men aged 50 and over: the prospective MINOS study. Ann Rheum Dis **67**(9):1249-55.
- 103. Szulc P, Delmas PD 2008 Biochemical markers of bone turnover: potential use in the investigation and management of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int **19**(12):1683-704.
- 104. Marshall D, Johnell O, Wedel H 1996 Meta-analysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures. British Medical Journal **312**(7041):1254-9.
- 105. Phillips PJ, Phillipov G 2006 Bone mineral density frequently asked questions. Australian Family Physician **35**(5):341-4.
- 106. Bauer DC, Garnero P, Bilezikian JP, Greenspan SL, Ensrud KE, Rosen CJ, Palermo L, Black DM 2006 Short-term changes in bone turnover markers and bone mineral density response to parathyroid hormone in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **91**(4):1370-5.
- 107. Bone HG, Bolognese MA, Yuen CK, Kendler DL, Wang H, Liu Y, San Martin J 2008 Effects of denosumab on bone mineral density and bone turnover in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **93**(6):2149-57.
- 108. Brown JP, Prince RL, Deal C, Recker RR, Kiel DP, de Gregorio LH, Hadji P, Hofbauer LC, Alvaro-Gracia JM, Wang H, Austin M, Wagman RB, Newmark R, Libanati C, San Martin J, Bone HG 2009 Comparison of the effect of denosumab and alendronate on BMD and biochemical markers of bone turnover in postmenopausal women with low bone mass: a randomized, blinded, phase 3 trial. J Bone Miner Res **24**(1):153-61.
- 109. Kim SW, Park DJ, Park KS, Kim SY, Cho BY, Lee HK, Shin CS 2005 Early changes in biochemical markers of bone turnover predict bone mineral density response to antiresorptive therapy in Korean postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. Endocr J **52**(6):667-74.

- 110. Kumm J, Ivaska KK, Rohtla K, Väänänen K, Tamm A 2008 Urinary osteocalcin and other markers of bone metabolism: the effect of risedronate therapy. Scand J Clin Lab Invest **68**(6):459-63.
- 111. Rizzoli R, Greenspan SL, Bone G, 3rd, Schnitzer TJ, Watts NB, Adami S, Foldes AJ, Roux C, Levine MA, Uebelhart B, Santora AC, 2nd, Kaur A, Peverly CA, Orloff JJ 2002 Two-year results of once-weekly administration of alendronate 70 mg for the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 17(11):1988-96.
- 112. Rosen CJ, Hochberg MC, Bonnick SL, McClung M, Miller P, Broy S, Kagan R, Chen E, Petruschke RA, Thompson DE, de Papp AE 2005 Treatment with once-weekly alendronate 70 mg compared with once-weekly risedronate 35 mg in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized double-blind study. J Bone Miner Res **20**(1):141-51.
- 113. Rosen HN, Moses AC, Garber J, Iloputaife ID, Ross DS, Lee SL, Greenspan SL 2000 Serum CTX: a new marker of bone resorption that shows treatment effect more often than other markers because of low coefficient of variability and large changes with bisphosphonate therapy. Calcif Tissue Int **66**(2):100-3.
- 114. Sarioglu M, Tuzun C, Unlu Z, Tikiz C, Taneli F, Uyanik BS 2006 Comparison of the effects of alendronate and risedronate on bone mineral density and bone turnover markers in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Rheumatol Int **26**(3):195-200.
- 115. Nenonen A, Cheng S, Ivaska KK, Alatalo SL, Lehtimaki T, Schmidt-Gayk H, Uusi-Rasi K, Heinonen A, Kannus P, Sievanen H, Vuori I, Väänänen HK, Halleen JM 2005 Serum TRACP 5b is a useful marker for monitoring alendronate treatment: comparison with other markers of bone turnover. J Bone Miner Res **20**(10):1804-12.
- 116. McClung MR, Bolognese MA, Sedarati F, Recker RR, Miller PD 2009 Efficacy and safety of monthly oral ibandronate in the prevention of postmenopausal bone loss. Bone 44(3):418-422.
- 117. Chesnut CH, 3rd, Bell NH, Clark GS, Drinkwater BL, English SC, Johnson CC, Jr., Notelovitz M, Rosen C, Cain DF, Flessland KA, Mallinak NJ 1997 Hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women: urinary Ntelopeptide of type I collagen monitors therapeutic effect and predicts response of bone mineral density. Am J Med **102**(1):29-37.
- 118. Chen P, Satterwhite JH, Licata AA, Lewiecki EM, Sipos AA, Misurski DM, Wagman RB 2005 Early changes in biochemical markers of bone formation predict BMD response to teriparatide in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res **20**(6):962-70.
- 119. Greenspan SL, Resnick NM, Parker RA 2005 Early changes in biochemical markers of bone turnover are associated with long-term changes in bone mineral density in elderly women on alendronate, hormone replacement therapy, or combination therapy: a three-year, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **90**(5):2762-7.

- 120. Delmas PD, Pornel B, Felsenberg D, Garnero P, Hardy P, Pilate C, Dain MP 1999 A dose-ranging trial of a matrix transdermal 17beta-estradiol for the prevention of bone loss in early postmenopausal women. International Study Group. Bone **24**(5):517-23.
- 121. Harris ST, Watts NB, Genant HK, McKeever CD, Hangartner T, Keller M, Chesnut CH, 3rd, Brown J, Eriksen EF, Hoseyni MS, Axelrod DW, Miller PD 1999 Effects of risedronate treatment on vertebral and nonvertebral fractures in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized controlled trial. Vertebral Efficacy With Risedronate Therapy (VERT) Study Group. Jama **282**(14):1344-52.
- 122. McClung MR, Wasnich RD, Recker R, Cauley JA, Chesnut CH, 3rd, Ensrud KE, Burdeska A, Mills T 2004 Oral daily ibandronate prevents bone loss in early postmenopausal women without osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res **19**(1):11-8.
- 123. Bauer DC, Black DM, Garnero P, Hochberg M, Ott S, Orloff J, Thompson DE, Ewing SK, Delmas PD 2004 Change in bone turnover and hip, nonspine, and vertebral fracture in alendronate-treated women: the fracture intervention trial. J Bone Miner Res **19**(8):1250-8.
- 124. Black DM, Delmas PD, Eastell R, Reid IR, Boonen S, Cauley JA, Cosman F, Lakatos P, Leung PC, Man Z, Mautalen C, Mesenbrink P, Hu H, Caminis J, Tong K, Rosario-Jansen T, Krasnow J, Hue TF, Sellmeyer D, Eriksen EF, Cummings SR 2007 Once-yearly zoledronic acid for treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. N Engl J Med **356**(18):1809-22.
- 125. Eastell R, Barton I, Hannon RA, Chines A, Garnero P, Delmas PD 2003 Relationship of early changes in bone resorption to the reduction in fracture risk with risedronate. J Bone Miner Res **18**(6):1051-6.
- 126. Seibel MJ, Naganathan V, Barton I, Grauer A 2004 Relationship between pretreatment bone resorption and vertebral fracture incidence in postmenopausal osteoporotic women treated with risedronate. J Bone Miner Res **19**(2):323-9.
- 127. Reginster JY, Sarkar S, Zegels B, Henrotin Y, Bruyere O, Agnusdei D, Collette J 2004 Reduction in PINP, a marker of bone metabolism, with raloxifene treatment and its relationship with vertebral fracture risk. Bone 34(2):344-51.
- 128. Bauer DC, Garnero P, Hochberg MC, Santora A, Delmas P, Ewing SK, Black DM 2006 Pretreatment levels of bone turnover and the antifracture efficacy of alendronate: the fracture intervention trial. J Bone Miner Res 21(2):292-9.
- 129. Gonnelli S, Cepollaro C, Pondrelli C, Martini S, Montagnani A, Monaco R, Gennari C 1999 Bone turnover and the response to alendronate treatment in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Calcif Tissue Int **65**(5):359-64.
- Civitelli R, Gonnelli S, Zacchei F, Bigazzi S, Vattimo A, Avioli LV, Gennari C 1988 Bone turnover in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Effect of calcitonin treatment. J Clin Invest 82(4):1268-74.

- 131. Gonnelli S, Cepollaro C, Pondrelli C, Martini S, Monaco R, Gennari C 1997 The usefulness of bone turnover in predicting the response to transdermal estrogen therapy in postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 12(4):624-31.
- 132. Rosen CJ, Chesnut CH, 3rd, Mallinak NJ 1997 The predictive value of biochemical markers of bone turnover for bone mineral density in early postmenopausal women treated with hormone replacement or calcium supplementation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **82**(6):1904-10.
- 133. Delmas PD, Eastell R, Garnero P, Seibel MJ, Stepan J 2000 The use of biochemical markers of bone turnover in osteoporosis. Committee of Scientific Advisors of the International Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int **11 Suppl 6:**S2-17.
- 134. Hannon R, Eastell R 2000 Preanalytical variability of biochemical markers of bone turnover. Osteoporos Int **11 Suppl 6:**S30-44.
- 135. Pi YZ, Wu XP, Liu SP, Luo XH, Cao XZ, Xie H, Liao EY 2006 Age-related changes in bone biochemical markers and their relationship with bone mineral density in normal Chinese women. J Bone Miner Metab **24**(5):380-5.
- 136. Ju HS, Leung S, Brown B, Stringer MA, Leigh S, Scherrer C, Shepard K, Jenkins D, Knudsen J, Cannon R 1997 Comparison of analytical performance and biological variability of three bone resorption assays. Clin Chem **43**(9):1570-6.
- 137. Schlemmer A, Hassager C, Jensen SB, Christiansen C 1992 Marked diurnal variation in urinary excretion of pyridinium cross-links in premenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **74**(3):476-80.
- 138. Wichers M, Schmidt E, Bidlingmaier F, Klingmuller D 1999 Diurnal rhythm of CrossLaps in human serum. Clin Chem **45**(10):1858-60.
- 139. Clowes JA, Hannon RA, Yap TS, Hoyle NR, Blumsohn A, Eastell R 2002 Effect of feeding on bone turnover markers and its impact on biological variability of measurements. Bone **30**(6):886-90.
- 140. Henriksen DB, Alexandersen P, Bjarnason NH, Vilsboll T, Hartmann B, Henriksen EE, Byrjalsen I, Krarup T, Holst JJ, Christiansen C 2003 Role of gastrointestinal hormones in postprandial reduction of bone resorption. J Bone Miner Res **18**(12):2180-9.
- 141. Obrant KJ, Ivaska KK, Gerdhem P, Alatalo SL, Pettersson K, Väänänen HK 2005 Biochemical markers of bone turnover are influenced by recently sustained fracture. Bone **36**(5):786-92.
- 142. Adami S, Gatti D, Viapiana O, Fiore CE, Nuti R, Luisetto G, Ponte M, Rossini M 2008 Physical activity and bone turnover markers: a cross-sectional and a longitudinal study. Calcif Tissue Int **83**(6):388-92.
- 143. Brahm H, Strom H, Piehl-Aulin K, Mallmin H, Ljunghall S 1997 Bone metabolism in endurance trained athletes: a comparison to population-based controls based on DXA, SXA, quantitative ultrasound, and biochemical markers. Calcif Tissue Int **61**(6):448-54.

- Ryan AS, Treuth MS, Hunter GR, Elahi D 1998 Resistive training maintains bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 62(4):295-9.
- 145. Woitge HW, Scheidt-Nave C, Kissling C, Leidig-Bruckner G, Meyer K, Grauer A, Scharla SH, Ziegler R, Seibel MJ 1998 Seasonal variation of biochemical indexes of bone turnover: results of a population-based study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83(1):68-75.
- 146. Blumsohn A, Naylor KE, Timm W, Eagleton AC, Hannon RA, Eastell R 2003 Absence of marked seasonal change in bone turnover: a longitudinal and multicenter cross-sectional study. J Bone Miner Res **18**(7):1274-81.
- 147. Overgaard K, Nilas L, Johansen JS, Christiansen C 1988 Lack of seasonal variation in bone mass and biochemical estimates of bone turnover. Bone **9**(5):285-8.
- 148. Meier C, Meinhardt U, Greenfield JR, De Winter J, Nguyen TV, Dunstan CR, Seibel MJ 2006 Serum cathepsin K concentrations reflect osteoclastic activity in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis and patients with Paget's disease. Clin Lab **52**(1-2):1-10.
- 149. Prezelj J, Ostanek B, Logar DB, Marc J, Hawa G, Kocjan T 2008 Cathepsin K predicts femoral neck bone mineral density change in nonosteoporotic peri- and early postmenopausal women. Menopause **15**(2):369-73.
- 150. Boyce BF, Xing L 2008 Functions of RANKL/RANK/OPG in bone modeling and remodeling. Arch Biochem Biophys **473**(2):139-46.
- 151. Khosla S, Arrighi HM, Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Dunstan C, Riggs BL 2002 Correlates of osteoprotegerin levels in women and men. Osteoporos Int **13**(5):394-9.
- 152. Mezquita-Raya P, de la Higuera M, Garcia DF, Alonso G, Ruiz-Requena ME, de Dios Luna J, Escobar-Jimenez F, Munoz-Torres M 2005 The contribution of serum osteoprotegerin to bone mass and vertebral fractures in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int **16**(11):1368-74.
- 153. Hawa G, Brinskelle-Schmal N, Glatz K, Maitzen S, Woloszczuk W 2003 Immunoassay for soluble RANKL (receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand) in serum. Clin Lab **49**(9-10):461-3.
- 154. Schett G, Kiechl S, Redlich K, Oberhollenzer F, Weger S, Egger G, Mayr A, Jocher J, Xu Q, Pietschmann P, Teitelbaum S, Smolen J, Willeit J 2004 Soluble RANKL and risk of nontraumatic fracture. Jama **291**(9):1108-13.
- 155. Marcus R 1996 Clinical review 76: The nature of osteoporosis. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism **81**(1):1-5.
- 156. Heaney RP 2003 Is the paradigm shifting? Bone **33**(4):457-65.
- 157. Lewis MK, Blake GM, Fogelman I 1994 Patient dose in dual x-ray absorptiometry. Osteoporosis International 4(1):11-5.
- 158. Mazess RB, Hanson JA, Payne R, Nord R, Wilson M 2000 Axial and totalbody bone densitometry using a narrow-angle fan-beam. Osteoporosis International **11**(2):158-66.

- Eiken P, Kolthoff N, Barenholdt O, Hermansen F, Pors Nielsen S 1994 Switching from DXA pencil-beam to fan-beam. II: Studies in vivo. Bone 15(6):671-6.
- Eiken P, Barenholdt O, Bjorn Jensen L, Gram J, Pors Nielsen S 1994 Switching from DXA pencil-beam to fan-beam. I: Studies in vitro at four centers. Bone 15(6):667-70.
- Kanis JA 2002 Diagnosis of osteoporosis and assessment of fracture risk. Lancet 359(9321):1929-36.
- 162. Njeh CF, Boivin CM, Langton CM 1997 The role of ultrasound in the assessment of osteoporosis: a review. Osteoporos Int 7(1):7-22.
- 163. Gluer CC, Eastell R, Reid DM, Felsenberg D, Roux C, Barkmann R, Timm W, Blenk T, Armbrecht G, Stewart A, Clowes J, Thomasius FE, Kolta S 2004 Association of five quantitative ultrasound devices and bone densitometry with osteoporotic vertebral fractures in a population-based sample: the OPUS Study. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 19(5):782-93.
- 164. Karlsson MK, Duan Y, Ahlborg H, Obrant KJ, Johnell O, Seeman E 2001 Age, gender, and fragility fractures are associated with differences in quantitative ultrasound independent of bone mineral density. Bone 28(1):118-22.
- 165. Huopio J, Kroger H, Honkanen R, Jurvelin J, Saarikoski S, Alhava E 2004 Calcaneal ultrasound predicts early postmenopausal fractures as well as axial BMD. A prospective study of 422 women. Osteoporos Int **15**(3):190-5.
- 166. Stewart A, Kumar V, Reid DM 2006 Long-term fracture prediction by DXA and QUS: a 10-year prospective study. J Bone Miner Res **21**(3):413-8.
- 167. Gluer CC 1997 Quantitative ultrasound techniques for the assessment of osteoporosis: expert agreement on current status. The International Quantitative Ultrasound Consensus Group. J Bone Miner Res **12**(8):1280-8.
- 168. Barkmann R, Laugier P, Moser U, Dencks S, Padilla F, Haiat G, Heller M, Gluer CC 2007 A method for the estimation of femoral bone mineral density from variables of ultrasound transmission through the human femur. Bone 40(1):37-44.
- 169. Njeh CF, Fuerst T, Diessel E, Genant HK 2001 Is quantitative ultrasound dependent on bone structure? A reflection. Osteoporos Int **12**(1):1-15.
- 170. Hans D, Fuerst T, Duboeuf F 1997 Quantitative ultrasound bone measurement. Eur Radiol 7(10):43-50.
- 171. Hans D, Arlot ME, Schott AM, Roux JP, Kotzki PO, Meunier PJ 1995 Do ultrasound measurements on the os calcis reflect more the bone microarchitecture than the bone mass?: a two-dimensional histomorphometric study. Bone **16**(3):295-300.
- 172. Gerdhem P, Magnusson H, Karlsson MK, Akesson K 2002 Ultrasound of the phalanges is not related to a previous fracture. A comparison between ultrasound of the phalanges, calcaneus, and DXA of the spine and hip in 75-year-old women. J Clin Densitom 5(2):159-66.

- 173. Moore AE, Blake GM, Fogelman I 2008 Quantitative measurements of bone remodeling using 99mTc-methylene diphosphonate bone scans and blood sampling. J Nucl Med **49**(3):375-82.
- 174. Blake GM, Park-Holohan SJ, Cook GJ, Fogelman I 2001 Quantitative studies of bone with the use of 18F-fluoride and 99mTc-methylene diphosphonate. Semin Nucl Med **31**(1):28-49.
- 175. Flores LG, 2nd, Nagamachi S, Jinnouchi S, Ohnishi T, Futami S, Nakahara H, Tamura S 1998 Relationship between extraosseous accumulation in bone scintigraphy with 99Tcm-HMDP and histopathology. Nucl Med Commun 19(4):347-54.
- 176. Sahin M, Basoglu T, Bernay I, Yapici O, Canbaz F, Yalin T 2000 Evaluation of metastatic bone disease with pentavalent 99Tc(m)-dimercaptosuccinic acid: a comparison with whole-body scanning and 4/24 hour quantitation of vertebral lesions. Nucl Med Commun **21**(3):251-8.
- 177. Fogelman I, Bessent RG, Turner JG, Citrin DL, Boyle IT, Greig WR 1978 The use of whole-body retention of Tc-99m diphosphonate in the diagnosis of metabolic bone disease. J Nucl Med **19**(3):270-5.
- 178. Thomsen K, Johansen J, Nilas L, Christiansen C 1987 Whole body retention of 99mTc-diphosphonate. Relation to biochemical indices of bone turnover and to total body calcium. Eur J Nucl Med **13**(1):32-5.
- 179. D'Addabbo A, Rubini G, Mele M, Lauriero F 1992 A new method for assessing 99Tcm-MDP bone uptake from a bone scan image: quantitative measurement of radioactivity in global skeletal regions of interest. Nucl Med Commun **13**(1):55-60.
- 180. Brenner W, Bohuslavizki KH, Sieweke N, Tinnemeyer S, Clausen M, Henze E 1997 Quantification of diphosphonate uptake based on conventional bone scanning. Eur J Nucl Med **24**(10):1284-90.
- 181. Carnevale V, Frusciante V, Scillitani A, Modoni S, Pileri M, Chiodini I, Dicembrino F, Romagnoli E, Minisola S 1996 Age-related changes in the global skeletal uptake of technetium-99m methylene diphosphonate in healthy women. Eur J Nucl Med **23**(11):1473-7.
- 182. Minisola S, Pacitti MT, Romagnoli E, Rosso R, Carnevale V, Caravella P, Scillitani A, Dicembrino F 1999 Clinical validation of a new immunoradiometric assay for intact human osteocalcin. Calcif Tissue Int 64(5):365-9.
- 183. Scillitani A, Dicembrino F, Chiodini I, Minisola S, Fusilli S, Di Giorgio A, Garrubba M, D'Aloiso L, Frusciante V, Torlontano M, Modoni S, Trischitta V, Carnevale V 2002 Global skeletal uptake of 99mTc-methylene diphosphonate (GSU) in patients affected by endocrine diseases: comparison with biochemical markers of bone turnover. Osteoporos Int 13(10):829-34.
- 184. Kakonen SM, Hellman J, Karp M, Laaksonen P, Öbrant KJ, Vaananen HK, Lovgren T, Pettersson K 2000 Development and evaluation of three immunofluorometric assays that measure different forms of osteocalcin in serum. Clin Chem 46(3):332-7.

- 185. Hellman J, Kakonen SM, Matikainen MT, Karp M, Lovgren T, Vaananen HK, Pettersson K 1996 Epitope mapping of nine monoclonal antibodies against osteocalcin: combinations into two-site assays affect both assay specificity and sample stability. J Bone Miner Res **11**(8):1165-75.
- 186. Halleen JM, Alatalo SL, Suominen H, Cheng S, Janckila AJ, Vaananen HK 2000 Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b: a novel serum marker of bone resorption. J Bone Miner Res 15(7):1337-45.
- 187. Wainwright SA, Marshall LM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Black DM, Hillier TA, Hochberg MC, Vogt MT, Orwoll ES 2005 Hip fracture in women without osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90(5):2787-93.
- 188. Garnero P 2000 Markers of bone turnover for the prediction of fracture risk. Osteoporos Int **11 Suppl 6:**S55-65.
- 189. Stepan JJ 2000 Prediction of bone loss in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int **11 Suppl 6:**S45-54.

Papers